
 

 

Assistant Director, Governance and 
 

Monitoring 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Democratic Services 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000 Ext 1783 
 

Direct Line: 01484 221000 
 

Fax: 01484 221707 
 

Please ask for: Richard Dunne 
 

Email: richard.dunne@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Friday 28 August 2015 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) 
 

The Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) will meet in the Council 
Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 3 September 
2015. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at time.to undertake Site Visits. The consideration of 
Planning Applications will commence at 1.00 pm in the location.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Assistant Director of Legal, Governance and Monitoring 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) members are:- 
 

 
When a Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) member cannot be at the meeting another 
member can attend in their place from the list below:- 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
N Patrick 
G Wilson

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Independent 
C Greaves 

Labour 
E Firth 
S Hall 
K Rowling 
G Turner 
S Ullah

Liberal Democrat 
C Burke 
J Lawson 
A Pinnock 
P Scott 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Terry Lyons (Chair) 
Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Jean Calvert 
Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Mark Hemingway 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Amanda Pinnock 
Councillor Mohammad Sarwar 
Councillor Ken Sims 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Molly Walton 
Councillor Linda Wilkinson 
Councillor Andrew Marchington 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
 
 
  Pages 

 
 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 

This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of previous meeting 
 

To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23 
July 2015. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

1 - 12 

 

3:   Interests and Lobbying 
 

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda about which they might have been lobbied. The Councillors 
will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda in which 
they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which would prevent them 
from participating in any discussion of the item or participating in any 
vote upon the item, or any other interests.  

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

13 - 14 

 

4:   Admission of the Public  



 

 

 

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 

The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 
 
Any Member of the Public wishing to make a deputation is required 
to give notice in writing to the Assistant Director – Legal, 
Governance and Monitoring at least 24 hours prior to the start of the 
meeting.  

 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

6:   Public Question Time 
 

The Committee will hear any questions from the general public. 
 
 
Wards 
Affected:  
 
 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application 2015/90507 
 

Outline application for residential development (within a 
Conservation Area) at land off Carr Top Lane, Golcar 
 

 



 

 

Estimated time of arrival at site -10.15am 
 
Contact Bill Topping, Major Developments  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Golcar 
 
 

 
 

 

8:   Site Visit - Application 2015/91523 
 

Engineering works to form public area at Woodhouse Farm, 
Woodhouse Lane, Holmbridge, Holmfirth 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site -11.00am 
 
Contact Kevin Walton, Planning Enforcement  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 

 

 

9:   Site Visit - Application 2015/91434 
 

Erection of detached garage and extension to existing dwelling at 16 
Bayfield Close, Hade Edge, Holmfirth 
 
Estimated time of arrival at site -11.25am 
 
Contact Teresa Harlow, Development Management  

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 

 

 

10:   Local Planning Authority Appeals 
 

The Sub Committee will be asked to note a report on the outcomes 
of appeals submitted by the Secretary of State. 
 
Contact Julia Steadman, Development Management  

 
 

15 - 26 



 

 

Wards 
Affected: Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 

 

11:   Planning Applications 
 

The Planning Sub Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
Planning Applications.  
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must have registered no later than 5.00pm (via telephone), 
or 11.59pm (via email) on Tuesday 1 September 2015. To pre-
register, please email andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk or phone 
01484 221000 (extension 74993)  
 
Contact: Simon Taylor, Planning Services   

 
 
Wards 
Affected: Golcar; Holme Valley South 
 
 

 
 

27 - 90 

 
 



 

Contact Officer: Richard Dunne 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
 

Thursday 23rd July 2015 
 
Present: Councillor Terry Lyons (Chair) 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Jean Calvert 
Councillor Donald Firth 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Amanda Pinnock 
Councillor Ken Sims 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Molly Walton 
Councillor Linda Wilkinson 
Councillor Andrew Marchington 
Councillor Bill Armer 

  
Apologies: Councillor Mohammad Sarwar 
  
  
  
  
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Councillor Armer substituted for Councillor Hemingway.  
 

2 Minutes of previous meeting 
RESOLVED - That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2015 be approved 
as a correct record.  
 

3 Interests and Lobbying 
Councillors Bellamy and D Firth declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Application 2014/93192 on the grounds that they are Trustees of Holme Valley Land 
Charity.  
 
Councillors Sims and Wilkinson declared that they had been lobbied on Application 
2014/93192.  
 
Councillor Marchington declared that he had been lobbied on Application 
2014/92878.  
 
Councillor Marchington declared that he had been lobbied on Application 
2014/92101.  

1 
 Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) -  23 July 2015 
 

 
Councillor Sokhal declared that he had been lobbied on Application 2015/90931.   
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items on the Agenda were taken in public session.  
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received.  
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Site Visit - Application 2015/90931 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

8 Site Visit - Application 2014/92101 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

9 Site Visit - Application 2014/92878 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

10 Local Planning Authority Appeals 
The Sub Committee received a report which set out details of the decisions of the 
Planning Inspectorate in respect of appeals submitted against decisions of the Local 
Authority.  
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted. 
 

11 Planning Applications 
The Sub Committee considered the schedule of Planning Applications. Under the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub Committee heard representations 
from members of the public in respect of the following applications;  
 
(a)  Application 2014/93192 - Outline application for erection of 2 semi detached 
dwellings with off road parking at land adjacent Sude Hill Terrace, New Mill, 
Holmfirth - John Cullaigh and Anne Beale (objectors) and Councillor Nigel Patrick 
(Local Ward Member) 
 
(b)  Application 2014/92878 - Erection of 20 dwellings and formation of access 
point at land to rear of, 300, Leymoor Road, Golcar, Huddersfield - Michael Clarke 
(objector)  
 
RESOLVED - That the Applications under the Planning Acts included in the list 
submitted for consideration by the Sub Committee be determined as now indicated 
and that the schedule of such decisions be circulated to Members.  
 
 
 
 

2 
 Page 2



Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) -  23 July 2015 
 

12 Update on Planning Application 2010/92767 relating to development viability 
and its impact on Section 106 contributions for development at Howgate 
Road, Slaithwaite, Huddersfield 
The Sub Committee considered the report which set out a recommendation to grant 
planning permission without affordable housing, education and off site public open 
space provision.  
 
The report contained details of the background to the planning application, the 
implications for the Council, consultees and their opinions and the officer 
recommendation and reasons.  
 
The Sub Committee also heard representation from Steve Mitchell, the agent 
speaking on behalf of the applicant.  
 
RESOLVED - To grant conditional full permission without the affordable housing, 
education and off-site public open space provision subject to the conditions outlined 
in the submitted report.  
 
 

3 
 Page 3



Page 4



DOC1479 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY 
 

PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
 

23 JULY 2015 

1 Page 5



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/93192 Holme Valley Land Charity – Outline application for erection of 2 

semi detached dwellings with off road parking – Land adj Sude 
Hill Terrace, New Mill, Holmfirth 

 
 INFORM THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE (appeal 

APP/Z4718/W/15/3087247) THAT THE LOCAL PLANNING 
AUTHORITY WOULD HAVE BEEN MINDED TO GRANT 
CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR THE REASONS 
SET OUT IN THE REPORT AND SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
SET OUT BELOW. 

 
 (1) Approval of the details of the scale, appearance, and the 

landscaping of the site (hereinafter called ‘the reserved matters’) 
shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing 
before any development commenced. 

 
 (2) Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in 

Condition 1 above, relating to scale, appearance and the 
landscaping of the site, shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority  and shall be carried out in full accordance 
with the approved plans. 

 
 (3) Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be 

made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

 
 (4) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either 

before the expiration of two years from the final approval of 
reserved matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, 
the final approval of the last such matter to be approved. 

 
 (5) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

complete accordance with the plans and specifications listed in 
this decision notice, except as may be specified in the conditions 
attached to this permission, which shall in all cases take 
precedence. 

 
 (6) The triangular piece of land located to the east of the 

application and as indicated as ‘Existing scrub unofficial car 
parking to remain’ on the approved plan Dwg. No. HLC Sh 01 
Rev D shall remain free of obstruction for use as a car park to 
serve the local community and surrounding uses.  Before the 
dwellings hereby approved are first brought into use a scheme 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority demonstrating how this car parking area is to 
be managed. Thereafter the car parking area shall be managed 
in accordance with the scheme so approved. 

 
 (7) Prior to the development being brought into use, the 

approved vehicle parking areas shall be surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the Communities and Local Government; and 

2 Page 6



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/93192 Cont'd  Environment Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of 

front gardens (parking areas)’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 
9781409804864) as amended or superseded; and thereafter 
retained. 

 
 (8) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plan, 

development shall not commence until a scheme detailing the 
provision of a 1.8m wide footway to the Sude Hill and Sude Hill 
Terrace frontages of the development site and localised 
widening of Sude Hill Terrace to 6.4metres together with 
construction specification, surfacing, drainage and kerbing 
including the relocation of existing street lighting column no. 9 
and associated highway works has been submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be brought into use until the approved 
scheme has been implemented and retained thereafter. 

 
 (9) In the event that contamination not previously identified by 

the developer prior to the grant of this planning permission is 
encountered during the development, all works on site (save for 
site investigation works) shall cease immediately and the Local 
Planning Authority shall be notified in writing within 2 working 
days.  Unless otherwise approved in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, works on site shall not recommence until 
either (a) a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority or (b) the 
Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that 
remediation measures are not required.  The Remediation 
Strategy shall include a timetable for the implementation and 
completion of the approved remediation measures.  Thereafter 
remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the approved Remediation Strategy. 

 
 Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 

Remediation Strategy a Validation Report shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority.  Unless otherwise approved in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority, no part of the site shall 
be brought into use until such time as the whole site has been 
remediated in accordance with the approved Remediation 
Strategy and a Validation Report in respect of those works has 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 (10) If any soils are to be imported onto site as part of the 

development, a validation report will be submitted to and 
approved in writing before any soil is imported into the site to 
prove that the soils used are suitable for use in residential 
gardens.  Only the approved soil shall then be imported into the 
site and used. 

 

3 Page 7



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/93192 Cont'd  (11) The following ecological enhancements shall be provided 

within the development hereby approved, and shall be retained 
thereafter.   

 (i) The installation of a multi-chamber swift nest box integral to 
the new build. 

 (ii) The installation of 2 bat tubes (Schweglar type 1FR or 
similar) fitted integral to suitable elevations of the new build. 

 
 NOTE - Ecology  
 Vegetation clearance should be undertaken outside of the bird 

breeding season, March to August inclusive. If any clearance 
work is to be carried out within this period, a nest search by a 
suitably qualified ecologist should be undertaken immediately 
preceding the works. If any active nests are present work which 
may cause destruction of nests or, disturbance to the resident 
birds must cease until the young have fledged. 

 
 NOTE – Highways Works 
 Link to Communities and Local Government; and Environment 

Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of front 
gardens’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864): 
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavi
ngfrontgardens  

  
 NOTE – Highways Works 
 The granting of planning permission does not authorise the 

carrying out of works within the highway, for which the written 
permission of the Council as Highway Authority is required. You 
are required to consult the Design Engineer (Kirklees Street 
Scene: 01484 414700) with regard to obtaining this permission 
and approval of the construction specification. Please also note 
that the construction of vehicle crossings within the highway is 
deemed to be major works for the purposes of the New Roads 
and Street Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). Interference 
with the highway without such permission is an offence which 
could lead to prosecution.  

 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Wilkinson, Walton, AU Pinnock, Pattison, 

Sokhal, Calvert and Lyons (7 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: Councillors Armer, J Taylor, Sims, Marchington and 

Khan (5 Votes) 
 
2014/92878 Jones Homes (Northern) Limited & Richard – Erection of 20 

dwellings and formation of access point – Land to rear of, 300, 
Leymoor Road, Golcar, Huddersfield 

 

4 Page 8



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/92878 Cont'd  GRANT CONDITIONAL FULL PLANNING PERMISISON 

SUBJECT TO DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS 
TO: 

 
 (i) SECURE A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE A 

COMMUTED SUM IN RESPECT OF  PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  
 (ii) IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE 

CONDITIONS, WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE IN THE 
SUBMITTED REPORT AND THE UPDATE LIST AND 

 (iii) ISSUE THE DECISION. 
 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Armer, J Taylor, Walton, AU Pinnock, Khan, 

Pattison, Sokhal, Calvert and Lyons (9 Votes) 
 
 AGAINST: Councillors Bellamy, D Firth, Sims, Wilkinson and 

Walton (5 Votes) 
 
 ABSTAINED: Councillor Marchington 
 
2015/90931 J Higgins - C/O Agent – Erection of 3 no. apartments - Land rear 

of, 12, Wren Street, Paddock, Huddersfield 
  
 CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION SUBJECT TO THE 

FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
 
 (1) The development shall be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which permission is 
granted. 

 
 (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

complete accordance with the plans and specifications listed in 
this decision notice, except as may be specified in the conditions 
attached to this permission, which shall in all cases take 
precedence. 

 
 (3) Samples of the facing materials for the walls and roof of the 

building hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before works to construct 
the superstructure of the building commence. The building shall 
be faced in the approved materials and thereafter retained as 
such. 

 
 (4) One of the parking spaces for the development, as indicated 

on approved drawing number 003, shall be allocated for the sole 
use of the occupier(s) of 12 Wren Street, Paddock and the 
allocated space shall be marked out to indicate as such. The 
allocated parking space for 12 Wren Street shall be provided 
before any of the apartments are first occupied and shall be so 

5 Page 9



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2015/90931 Cont'd  retained free from obstruction and available for parking by the 

occupier(s) of 12 Wren Street thereafter.  
 
 (5) None of the apartments shall be occupied until all areas 

indicated to be used for access/parking/turning on approved 
drawing number 003 have been marked out, and laid out with a 
hardened and drained surface in accordance with the 
Communities and Local Government; and Environment 
Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of front gardens 
(parking areas)’ published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 
9781409804864) as amended or any successor guidance. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) these areas shall be so retained, free of 
obstructions and available for access/parking/turning thereafter. 

 
 (6) The gradient of the driveway and parking area to the 

development shall not be steeper than 1 in 20 for the first 5.0 
metres from the carriageway of Speedwell Street and the 
remainder of the driveway and parking area shall not be steeper 
than 1 in 10. 

 
 (7) Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development shall 

take place until the existing boundary wall along the full frontage 
of the site (adjacent Speedwell Street) has been lowered to a 
height no greater than 1.0 metre above the level of adjoining 
footway. The wall shall be retained as such thereafter. Nothing 
shall be permitted to be planted or erected within a strip of land 
2.0 metres deep measured from the carriageway edge of 
Speedwell Street along the full site frontage which exceeds 1.0 
metre above the level of the adjoining footway. 

 
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Armer, Bellamy, J Taylor, D Firth, Sims, 

Marchington, Wilkinson, Walton, AU Pinnock, Pattison and 
Calvert (11 Votes)  

 
 AGAINST: Councillors Khan, Sokhal and Lyons (3 Votes) 
 
2014/92101 Qamar Akhtar – Change of use from public house to 4 no. 

apartments, alteration to roof, 2 no. A3 units and new parking 
facilities to rear (within a Conservation Area) – Post Office Hotel, 
11, Market Street, Milnsbridge, Huddersfield 

 
 DEFER CONSIDERATION OF THE APPLICATION TO ALLOW 

DISCUSSIONS TO TAKE PLACE WITH THE 
APPLICANT/AGENT REGARDING ACCESS AND PARKING 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

6 Page 10



APPLICATION NO. DESCRIPTION, LOCATION OF PROPOSAL AND DECISION  
 
2014/92101 Cont'd  A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Armer, Bellamy, J Taylor, D Firth, 

Marchington, Wilkinson, Walton, AU Pinnock, Khan, Pattison, 
Sokhal, Calvert and Lyons (13 Votes) 

 
 AGAINST: (No Votes) 
 
 ABSTAINED: Councillor Sims 
 
2015/90180 CDS (Superstores International) Ltd – Erection of ancillary 

garden centre associated with 'The Range' – Great Northern 
Retail Park, Leeds Road, Huddersfield 

 
 CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION SUBJECT TO THE 

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO:  
 (i) IMPOSE ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY 

CONDITIONS WHICH MAY INCLUDE THOSE SET OUT IN 
THE SUBMITTED REPORT, AND; 

 (ii) ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE 
  
 A RECORDED VOTE WAS TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 42(5) AS FOLLOWS; 
 
 FOR: Councillors Armer, Bellamy, J Taylor, D Firth, Sims, 

Wilkinson, Walton, AU Pinnock, Khan, Pattison and Lyons (11 
Votes)  

 
 AGAINST: Councillor Calvert (1 Vote)  
 
 ABSTAINED: Councillors Marchington and Sokhal  
 

7 Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND LOBBYING 
 

Planning Sub-Committee/Strategic Planning Committee 

Name of Councillor 

Item in which 
you have an 
interest 

Type of interest (eg a 
disclosable pecuniary 
interest or an “Other 
Interest”) 

Does the nature of the interest require you to 
withdraw from the meeting while the item in which 
you have an interest is under consideration?  [Y/N] 

Brief description 
of your interest 

    

    

LOBBYING 
 

Date Application/Page 
No. 

Lobbied By 
(Name of 
person) 

Applicant Objector Supporter Action taken / 
Advice given 

       

       

       

 
 

Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: …………………………………….. 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 3:



NOTES 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary interests under the new national rules. Any reference to 
spouse or civil partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 

 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 

 
Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has 
a beneficial interest) and your council or authority - 

• under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
• which has not been fully discharged. 

Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or 
authority for a month or longer. 

 
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - the landlord is your council or authority; and the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest. 

 
Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or authority; and 
(b) either - 

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 

Lobbying 
 
If you are approached by any Member of the public in respect of an application on the agenda you must declared that you have been lobbied. A 
declaration of lobbying does not affect your ability to participate in the consideration or determination of the application. 

P
age 14



 
 
Name of meeting: PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
Date: 3 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
Title of report: LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY APPEALS 
 
Is it likely to result in spending or 
saving £250k or more, or to have a 
significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 
 

No  
 

Is it in the Council’s Forward Plan? 
 
 

No  
 

Is it eligible for “call in” by Scrutiny? 
 

No  

Date signed off by Assistant 
Director & name 
 
Is it signed off by the Director of 
Resources? 
 
Is it signed off by the Acting 
Assistant Director - Legal & 
Governance? 
 

24 August 2015   Paul Kemp 
 
No financial implications 
 
 
No legal implications  
 

Cabinet member portfolio 
 

Cllr. S. Hall 

 
Electoral wards affected: Holme Valley South;  
Ward councillors consulted: No 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
1.   Purpose of report 
     For information 
  
2.   Key points 
 
2.1 2014/60/90380/W - Outline application for erection of one dwelling at 

Land Between 48-52, Greenhill Bank Road, New Mill, Holmfirth, HD9 
1ER.  (Sub-Committee in accordance with officer recommendation)  
(Dismissed)   

 
2.2 2014/60/92102/W - Outline application for erection of detached 

dwelling adj Lyngham, Cliff Road, Holmfirth, HD9 1UY.  (Officer)  
(Dismissed) 

 
3.  Implications for the Council  
 Not applicable 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/scrutiny/Scrutiny.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/councillors/yourcouncillors.asp


4.   Consultees and their opinions 
 Not applicable 
 
5.   Next steps  
 Not applicable 
 
6.   Officer recommendations and reasons 
 To note 
 
7.   Cabinet portfolio holder recommendation  
 Not applicable 
 
8.   Contact officer and relevant papers 
 Simon Taylor – Head of Development Management 
 
9.   Director responsible  
 Jacqui Gedman 

Page 16



  

 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 20 May 2015 

by Ian McHugh Dip TP  MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 22 July 2015 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/Z4718/W/15/3005427 
Land Between 48 and 52 Greenhill Bank Road, New Mill, Holmfirth,       
HD9 1ER 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by M Hayes and P Taylor against the decision of Kirklees Council. 
• The application Ref 2014/60/90380/W, dated 3 February 2014, was refused by notice 

dated 1 August 2014. 
• The development proposed is the erection of one dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The site is situated within the Green Belt, and therefore the main issues are: 

• Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development for the 
purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
and Development Plan Policy. 

• The effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, and on the 
character and appearance of the area. 

• If found to be inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason 
of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify the development.  

Reasons 

Inappropriate Development 

3. The appeal site is an area of steeply sloping land, which is situated between 
numbers 48 and 52 Greenhill Bank Road.  The road links New Mill with the 
village of Totties.  The site is bounded on two sides by existing dwellings and 
their gardens, with open countryside to the rear and on the opposite side of the 
road. The western side of Greenhill Bank Road (on which the appeal site is 
located) is characterised by a ribbon of housing development that generally 
fronts the road, interspersed with open areas of land.  These open areas vary in 

 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 
 Page 17



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005427 
 

 
terms of their width and overall size.  The opposite side of Greenhill Bank Road 
is largely open countryside.  

4. The site is situated in the Green Belt, where new built development is strictly 
controlled.  In that regard, the Council refers to Policy D13 of the Revised 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan (UDP), which permits infill development 
within existing settlements in the Green Belt, subject to three criteria relating 
to: the size of the site; the presence of surrounding development; and the 
effect of any new development on adjoining occupiers, or on the character of 
the surrounding area. 

5. In my opinion, the above policy generally accords with paragraph 89 of the 
Framework, which states that the construction of new buildings should be 
regarded as inappropriate within the Green Belt, with the exception of (amongst 
other things) limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local 
community needs under policies set out in the Local Plan.  The Framework does 
not define limited infilling and, whilst it refers solely to villages, I see no reason 
why the principle cannot be applied to other types of settlement within Green 
Belts.  

6. The development proposed is for the erection of one dwelling.  All matters, 
apart from the means of access, are reserved for further approval. I note that 
the Council has no objection to the proposed access and, whilst some concerns 
have been raised by local residents in respect of highway safety, I have no 
reason to disagree with the Council’s conclusion.  

7. The Council contends that the site does not lie within a settlement or a village 
and therefore, it conflicts with Policy D13 of the UDP, and with the provisions of 
the Framework.  Consequently, the Council concludes that the proposal is 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  The appellants argue that the 
appeal site either forms part of the settlements of New Mill or Totties, on the 
grounds that there are no significant breaks in the line of residential 
development along Greenhill Bank Road, and the proposed dwelling would be 
viewed as an integral part of the existing ribbon development.  I note that the 
Green Belt boundary is drawn around the main built up area of New Mill, whilst 
Totties is ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt.   

8. In response to my request for clarification on settlement boundaries, the 
Council states that for the purposes of the UDP, settlement boundaries are 
considered to be the Green Belt boundary around them and locations that are 
washed over by Green Belt are not considered to be settlements.  The 
appellants dispute this approach and argue that the UDP does not specifically 
define settlement boundaries and they are not shown on the proposals map.  
Furthermore, the appellants assert that it is illogical for the Council not to 
regard ‘washed over’ areas as being settlements, when Policy D13 of the UDP 
specifically refers to “existing settlements in the Green Belt”. 

9. Whilst I have considered the argument put forward by the Council, I am not 
persuaded (based on the evidence provided) that the Green Belt boundary and 
a settlement boundary can be regarded as the same thing.  Even if that were 
the case, a settlement boundary is not necessarily determinative of the issue.   
I agree with the appellants that there may be locations where settlements are 
either wholly or partly washed over within the Green Belt and, in such locations, 

 

2 Page 18



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005427 
 

 
development may be acceptable.  Furthermore, there may be areas of built 
development outside defined boundaries that appear as part of a village or 
settlement and where infill development could be acceptable.  In my opinion, it 
is a matter of planning judgement for the decision maker.  

10. The terms ‘settlements’ or ‘villages’ are not defined in the UDP or in the 
Framework and therefore whether or not land or buildings are within a 
settlement is a subjective decision.  Whilst the appellants point to the close 
physical relationship of the appeal site to both New Mill and Totties, there are 
distinct open breaks between the start of the ribbon development (of which the 
appeal site forms part) and the main built up area of New Mill to the north.  
Likewise, there is also a gap (albeit smaller) of open land between numbers 62 
and 80 Greenhill Bank Road which, in my view, marks the northern edge of 
Totties.  These gaps, together with the open countryside to the rear and on the 
opposite side of the road, provide visual and physical links to the countryside 
and lead me to conclude that the appeal site is not located within a settlement. 

11. For the above reasons, I therefore find that the proposed dwelling would 
amount to inappropriate development within the Green Belt.  Paragraph 87 of 
the Framework states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. 

Openness and Character and Appearance 

12. The appeal site is an area of land that is generally free from any built 
development.  It is relatively wide and makes a positive contribution to the rural 
character and appearance of the area.  Whilst no details of the proposed 
dwelling have been submitted, I am in no doubt that the erection of a new 
dwelling, plus the significant engineering works that would be associated with it, 
would result in a significant reduction in the openness to this part of the Green 
Belt.   

13.The proposal would also have an urbanising impact on the site and would 
unacceptably consolidate built development in the area as a result of the 
significant reduction in the gap between the existing buildings.  I consider that 
this would be harmful to the character and appearance of the area.  
Furthermore, the proposal would be contrary to one of the five purposes of 
green belts, which is to safeguard the countryside from encroachment.  These 
adverse effects would add to the harm that I have already identified above.  

Very Special Circumstances 

14.The appellants’ case is founded mainly on their assertions that the site is 
located within a settlement, and that the proposal would not have an adverse 
effect on the openness or the character and appearance of the area.  I have 
already dealt with these points above.   

15. My attention has also been drawn to the shortage of housing land within the 
Council’s area.  However, I have not been provided with any substantive 
evidence on housing land supply to enable me to assess this matter further.  I 
accept that the development would provide an additional dwelling, but this 
would not be significant within the context of the Council’s strategic housing 
requirements and, in my opinion, it does not therefore amount to the very 

 

3 Page 19



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005427 
 

 
special circumstances that are required to enable me to grant planning 
permission.  In addition, whilst the may be limited social and economic benefits 
arising from the proposal, it would not accord with the third dimension 
(environmental role) of sustainable development, as contained in paragraph 7 
of the Framework, because of the harm to the Green Belt and to the character 
and appearance of the area.   

Other Matters 

16. Concern has been expressed by a neighbouring resident regarding the effect of 
the proposal on his privacy.  Whilst no details of the type or position of the 
proposed dwelling have been submitted to enable me to make a definitive 
assessment, I consider that adequate separation distances could be achieved, 
thereby ensuring that there would be no significant overlooking into 
neighbouring property. 

17.The appellants have drawn my attention to other decisions by the Council and 
at appeal, where matters relating to the Green Belt; settlement boundaries; and 
the interpretation of Policy D13 of the UDP have been raised.  These include an 
earlier Council decision to grant outline planning permission for a detached 
dwelling on land between numbers 961 and 963 New Hey Road, Outlane 
(reference: 2013/90304), which is located in a different part of the district.  I 
have considered these in reaching my decision.  However, it is also a 
requirement that each proposal should be considered on its own merits.  

Conclusion 

18. For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be dismissed. 

 

Ian McHugh 
INSPECTOR 

    

 

 

 

 

4 Page 20



  

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 22 May 2015 

by Mrs A Fairclough MA BSc(Hons) LLB(Hons) PGDipLP(Bar) IHBC MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 22 July 2015 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/Z4718/W/15/3005384 
Plot adjacent to Lyngham, Cliff Road, Wooldale, Holmfirth, West Yorkshire 
HD9 1UY 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Paul Hollingworth against the decision of Kirklees 

Metropolitan Borough Council. 
• The application Ref: 2014/60/92192/W, dated 30 June 2014, was refused by notice 

dated 26 August 2014. 
• The development proposed is described as a single detached dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The appeal was submitted in outline.  The planning application form indicates 
that the matter of access is to be considered with appearance, layout, scale 
and landscaping reserved for later consideration.  I will deal with the appeal on 
this basis.   

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are whether the development would be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt having regard to local and national policy and, if 
it does, whether any harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm 
is clearly outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to the very 
special circumstances necessary to justify the development proposed. 

Reasons 

Whether the development would be inappropriate development  

4. The appeal site is located within the Green Belt.  It comprises a sloping grassed 
area of land, which rises steeply to the south west.  It lies to the side of 
Lyngham, a modern detached dwelling.  That dwelling is positioned to the 
north east of the appeal site.  A row of 3 terraced dwellings, Nos 78a, 78b and 
78c are located to the south west.  The proposed development is for the 
erection of a single dwelling.  The indicative plans suggest that the proposed 
dwelling would be positioned between Lyngham and No 78c.  It would be set 
back into the site so that it would approximately align with them and it would 
be on 2 levels with an integral garage on the lower level   

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate Page 21



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005384 
 

5. The appellant states that the appeal site is located within the settlement of Cliff 
within a continuous developed frontage.  He contends that it is surrounded by 
development.  On that basis Saved Policy D13 of the Kirklees Unitary 
Development Plan1 (UDP) should apply.  UDP Policy D13 allows for infilling 
within settlements in the Green Belt, provided such development is small scale 
(not more than two dwellings) and is located within a previously built-up 
frontage, or largely surrounded by development.  In providing criteria for 
infilling, UDP Policy D13 fulfils the requirement in the Framework to set out 
policies in a Local Plan and as such it has a significant degree of consistency 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework). 

6. The appeal site is associated with the dwelling known as Lyngham.  The Green 
Belt boundary follows the wall between the appeal site and No 78c Cliff Road 
and runs along the road frontage of the appeal site.  This means that the 
appeal site and the dwellings to the north east, Lyngham and Old Stones, are 
within the Green Belt and No 78c and the ribbon of development fronting part 
of Cliff Road to the south west are situated within the settlement boundary of 
Holmfirth.  Therefore, irrespective of the relationship of the appeal site with 
nearby residential development/land uses or the fact it would be for a single 
dwelling, the provisions of UDP Policy D13 cannot apply as the appeal site is 
outside the settlement boundary of Holmfirth.   

7. Paragraph 89 of the Framework states that, with certain exceptions, the 
erection of new buildings in the Green Belt is inappropriate.  One of the 
specified exceptions relates to the limited infilling in villages. 

8. The appellant indicates that the appeal site is falls within the original Cliff 
settlement.  Cliff is located on the hillside on the edge of the settlement of 
Holmfirth.  The Council considers that Cliff is a suburb of Holmfirth and is not a 
village in its own right.  This is based on the Council’s interpretation of old 
maps of the area, from the 1950’s, which show that the area of Cliff exists.  
The Council considers that this area appears to be a continuation of 
development along the roads out of the town of Holmfirth and up the sides of 
the valley.  Furthermore, the Council states that the neighbourhood of Cliff 
does not possess any services or facilities that are typical of a village.  In my 
view the continuous built form and the lack of general facilities and services, 
associated with an individual village, support the position that Cliff is part of 
the bigger settlement of Holmfirth and is a locality/suburb rather than a village 
in its own right.   

9. Consequently, I do not consider that the proposed development is consistent 
with paragraph 89 of the Framework.  Therefore, I conclude the proposed 
development would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  This 
would harm the Green Belt. 

Any other Green Belt harm 

10. I acknowledge that the proposed development would be built into a sloping site 
and would not interrupt views across/down the valley.  However, I consider 
that the proposed development would have an effect on the openness of the 
Green Belt, i.e. land not covered by structures, which vertically project and 
have a mass and form.  Thus, it would reduce the openness of the Green Belt, 

1 Kirklees Unitary Development Plan Written Statement – Revised With Effect From September 2007. 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           2 

                                       

Page 22



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005384 
 

a concept that is not dependant on public visibility but which is an essential 
characteristic of such designated land2.  This would harm the Green Belt. 

11. I note the appellant refers to residential development of 188 houses which he 
states is planned for the land opposite the appeal site and he considers such 
development would create more harm to openness than the appeal scheme.  
This land is defined as Provisional Open Land (POL) in the UDP.  However, 
although the POL is identified within the Strategic Housing Land Allocation 
Assessment dated 2013, planning permission for residential development has 
not been sought for this site (Ref site 480) and in any case the land is not 
within the Green Belt.  Therefore, it cannot be compared to the appeal scheme.   

Other considerations 

12. The appellant accepts that the appeal site is in the Green Belt but has referred 
to “discrepancies in the drawing up of the Green Belt in 1980” and he has 
alluded to other sites that are located further from key buildings in the locality 
when compared to the appeal site but are within the settlement boundary in 
contrast to the appeal site.  He contends that the Green Belt boundary was 
drawn using aerial maps and that the land contours and topography were not 
taken into account.  He suggests that the boundary should have been drawn 
along the Old Wooldale Cliff Road to allow for further development on Cliff 
Road.  However, the Council have not referred to any discrepancies.  To my 
mind the Green Belt boundary clearly follows 2 sides of a defined boundary, a 
stone wall, which surrounds the appeal site.  I believe the Green Belt boundary, 
is not a discrepancy.  Such boundaries are established and have been drawn 
with a view to their long-term permanence and are to prevent the further 
encroachment of built up areas into the open countryside.   

13. The appellant refers to other development proposals in the Cliff locality 
including No 2 Cliff Road (2014/60/93621/W).  However, I am not aware of the 
full background of this scheme.  From the information provided this scheme is 
undetermined.  It is located within the settlement boundary and as such can be 
distinguished from the appeal before me.  The other developments relate to 
proposals along Cliff Road (Refs: 2014/62/91955/W and 2014/60/93816/W).  
The appellant refers to these schemes as indicative of demand for new housing 
in the locality and these developments could provide housing on land unusable 
for agricultural purposes.  Although I understand one of these schemes is 
located within the Green Belt and has been refused, I am unaware of the 
background of the other case.   In any case, I am required to determine each 
appeal on it merits in the light of current policy.  I have done so in this case. 

14. The appellant states that the Highway Authority has not objected to the means 
of access with regard to the proposed scheme. I acknowledge that there is 
adequate visibility and entering and exiting in the forward gear would be 
possible.  I also note that proposed development is not considered detrimental 
in terms of ecology.  However, these are general planning considerations and 
absence of harm would be neutral. 

15. I note the references that the dwelling would be constructed in complementary 
materials, typical of the locality, and it would not be dominant or overbearing. 

2 Paragraph 78 of the Framework indicates that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open and the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           3 

                                       

Page 23



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005384 
 

However, the appeal is in outline and the matters referred to above will be 
determined at the reserved matters stage.   

16. I also note that the appellant states that it would provide employment for local 
builder/tradesmen.  However, although the construction of the dwelling would 
bring economic benefits in terms of investment in the local economy as well as 
employment, no detailed assessment of the extent of these benefits is before 
me.  However, to my mind the construction of a single dwelling would only 
generate limited benefits over a relatively short period of time. 

17. The appellant maintains that the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply 
of deliverable housing and refers to a newspaper article3 and the SHLAA.  
There is no dispute amongst the parties that the Council cannot demonstrate a 
sufficient supply of deliverable housing land.   The appellant considers that this 
significant shortfall should weigh heavily in the planning balance.  However, 
Planning Practice Guidance states that unmet housing need is unlikely to 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and other harm to constitute the “very 
special circumstances” justifying inappropriate development on a site within the 
Green Belt. I also note in this respect, that whilst the provision of some houses 
would clearly assist towards the supply in the Council area, the provision of a 
single dwelling would have a limited positive effect on this housing supply.  In 
coming to this conclusion, I note the appellant’s reference to other proposed 
residential developments4 that if taken together could make a positive 
contribution to housing supply.  However, I am not aware of the background of 
these schemes and I am only required to deal with the appeal before me.  
Therefore, the argument that the proposed scheme would provide one 
additional dwelling carries limited weight. 

18. Concerns have been raised by interested parties.  The occupier of No 78c has 
referred to the detrimental effect of the proposed development on his living 
conditions due to proximity, outlook, privacy and overshadowing.  I note the 
neighbour’s concerns but the points raised are not for consideration at this 
stage.  The plans are indicative only and fuller details in terms of scale and 
layout would be determined at the reserved matters stage.  The submission by 
Mr Garner includes references to UDP Policy D13 and the Framework which is 
relevant to the appeal.  However, it raises no new points in that respect.  The 
reference to a 2 or 3 storey houses with a pitched roof is something that would 
be considered at the reserved matters stage if I was minded to allow the 
appeal.  Therefore, I consider these arguments carry limited weight. 

Conclusions 

19. According to Government advice, given in the Framework, very special 
circumstances to justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt will not 
exist unless the potential harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 
harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.   

20. The proposal would amount to inappropriate development and it would 
encroach on the openness of the Green Belt, one of its essential characteristics.  
The Framework makes it clear that any harm to the openness of the Green Belt 
should be given substantial weight.  For the appeal to succeed, the combined 
weight of other considerations must clearly outweigh the totality of the harm 

3 Huddersfield Examiner dated Tuesday 11 November 2014. 
4 2014/60/92102/W, 2014/62/91955/W and 2014/60/93816/W. 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           4 

                                       

Page 24



Appeal Decision APP/Z4718/W/15/3005384 
 

arising.  Although there are economic benefits associated with the construction 
of the proposed development and it would contribution to meeting housing 
need, those considerations do not clearly outweigh the harm that I have 
identified.  As such the very special circumstances, as required by paragraph 
88 of the Framework, necessary to justify inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt do not exist in this case.  For the reasons given above the appeal 
should be dismissed.  

Mrs A Fairclough 
INSPECTOR 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           5 Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

 
  PLANNING SERVICE 

 
  LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 

 
  PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 

 
 

  03-Sep-2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985   
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 

  There is a file for each planning application containing                             
application forms, plans and background papers.  

 
  Simon Taylor - 01484 221000 

 

 
 
 

1 

Page 27

Agenda Item 11:



 
 
 

2 

Page 28



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this 
Agenda the following information applies; 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan comprises: 
 
The Unitary Development Plan (UDP).  These reports will refer only to those 
polices of the UDP ‘saved’ under the direction of the Secretary of State 
beyond September 2007. 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of 
planning applications for the development or use of land unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
The LDF core strategy approved by the Council in March 2012 was sunmitted 
to the Secretary of State on 2nd April 2013 for independent examination.  
However, following correspondence and meetings with the planning inspector, 
appointed by the Secretary of State, the council resolved to withdraw the core 
strategy on 23rd October 2013.  Until such time as revised core strategy 
proposals have been submitted for examination they will have no significant 
weight in the determination of planning applications. 
 
National Policy/Guidelines 
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy 
Statements, primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
published 27th March 2012, the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) 
launched 6th March 2014 together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and 
associated technical guidance. 
 
The NPPF consitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The Council adopted its Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in 
relation to planning matters in September 2006. This sets out how people and 
organistations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the process 
relating to planning applications. 
 
The applications have been publicised by way of press notice,.site notices 
and neighbour letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Statement of 
Community Involvement and in full accordance with the requirements of 
regulation, statute and national guidance. 

 
 
 

3 

Page 29



EQUALITY ISSUES 
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have 
due regard to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing 
equality of opportunity and fostering good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and people who do not share that 
characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

• age; 
 
• disability; 

 
• gender reassignment; 

 
• pregnancy and maternity; 

 
• religion or belief; 

 
• sex; 

 
• sexual orientation. 

 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:- 
 

• Article 8 – Right to respect for private and family life. 
 
• Article 1 of the First Protocol – Right to peaceful enjoyment of property 

and possessions. 
 

The Council considers that the recommendations witihn the reports are in 
accordance with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the 
rights and freedoms of others and in the public interest. 
 
 

 
 
 

4 

Page 30



PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 203 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires 
that Local Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of planning condition 
or obligations, 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 stipulates that planning 
obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990) should only by sought where they meet all of the 
following tests. 
 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 
• directly related to the development; and 

 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework and further guidance in the PPGS 
launched on 6th March 2014 require that planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these are in summary: 
 
1. necessary; 
 
2. relevant to planning and; 
 
3. to the development to be permitted; 
 
4. enforceable; 
 
5. precise and; 
 
6.  reasonable in all other respects. 
 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before 
the Planning sub-committee have been made in accordance with the 
above requirements. 

 
 
 

5 

Page 31



 
 
 

6 

Page 32



 
Application No: 2014/92101 ............................................................................. 8 

Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Change of use from public house to 4 no. apartments, alteration 
to roof, 2 no. A3 units and new parking facilities to rear (within a 
Conservation Area) 
Location: Post Office Hotel, 11, Market Street, Milnsbridge, Huddersfield, 
HD3 4ND 
Ward: Golcar Ward 
Applicant: Qamar Akhtar 
Agent: Manjinder Chattha 
Target Date: 11-May-2015 
Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2015/90507 ........................................................................... 21 
Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 
Proposal: Outline application for residential development (within a 
Conservation Area) 
Location: Land off, Carr Top Lane, Golcar, Huddersfield, HD7 4JB 
Ward: Golcar Ward 
Applicant: T Smith 
Agent: Michael Townsend, Townsend Planning Consultants 
Target Date: 26-May-2015 
Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2015/91523 ........................................................................... 39 
Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Engineering works to form public area 
Location: Woodhouse Farm, Woodhouse Lane, Holmbridge, Holmfirth, HD9 
2QR 
Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 
Applicant: Holmfirth Vineyard Ltd 
Agent: Mr Gary Crossfield, Bauhaus Architectural Consultants 
Target Date: 15-Jul-2015 
Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application No: 2015/91434 ........................................................................... 51 
Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 
Proposal: Erection of detached garage and extension to existing dwelling 
Location: 16, Bayfield Close, Hade Edge, Holmfirth, HD9 2QX 
Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 
Applicant: D Frank 
Agent: 
Target Date: 08-Jul-2015 
Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 
 
 

7 

Page 33



Application No: 2014/92101 

Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Change of use from public house to 4 no. apartments, 
alteration to roof, 2 no. A3 units and new parking facilities to rear (within 
a Conservation Area) 

Location: Post Office Hotel, 11, Market Street, Milnsbridge, Huddersfield, 
HD3 4ND 
 
Grid Ref: 411620.0 415860.0  

Ward: Golcar Ward 

Applicant: Qamar Akhtar 

Agent: Manjinder Chattha 

Target Date: 11-May-2015 

Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeaki
ngCommittee.pdf 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 
 

8 

Page 34

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


LOCATION PLAN 
 

Bridge

Garage

Milnsbridge

Works

Works

Warehouse

Lock No 10

SHAW LANE

96.3m

1

STREET

PH

Works

Works

7

92.7m

13

1

11

11

Path (um)

Lock No 11

Overflow

3

2

17

1a
5

1921

1 3

13
21a 1b

1c
15

15

23
1921

TCB

MARKET2

4

4

18

 S
ub

 

El Sub Sta

13

 

4

Works

MO

 

9

6

19 to 

37

33
17

94.2m

1315

18

 

5

BALM

 
 

Hall

YATES LANE

JO
H

N
 STR

EET

6

23

6 9
7

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 
1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 
RECOMMENDATION: FULL CONDITIONAL APPROVAL  
 
The application proposes the redevelopment of the former public house to 
form 4no. apartments and 2no. Class A3 units.  The proposal is considered, 
on balance, to be acceptable, and would bring back into use an existing 
redundant building in a sustainable location.  The proposal would have an 
acceptable impact on the Milnsbridge Conservation Area, and would not be 
detrimental to highway safety nor the amenity of future occupiers and 
surrounding residents.  
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application was deferred from the last Huddersfield Planning Committee 
on Thursday 23 July 2015, to allow the applicant additional time to address 
concerns raised by the Highways in relation to the parking and access 
arrangements for the site.  Further information has now been submitted which 
has been assessed in the main body of the report.  
 
The application is brought before the Huddersfield Planning Sub Committee at 
the requests of Cllr Iredale, the request is set out below. 
 

I would like to request a site visit and a committee decision with 
regards to this application.  My reasons are I think the property which is 
in a conservation area is too small to warrant 4  apartments and a 2 A3 
units with parking facilities for 8 vehicles I think that this will out of 
keeping with the surrounding area.   

 
 
 

9 

Page 35



 
The Chair of Sub-Committee has confirmed that Cllr Iredale’s request is valid 
having regard to the Councillor’s Protocol for Planning Committees. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site 
The application site represents a former two storey public house constructed 
from natural stone, located on the southern edge of Milnsbridge centre.  
Vehicular access to the site can be gained from the east off Market Street 
along a private lane, which leads to the rear of the site, and which also serves 
a number of other properties. Surrounding the site to the east is a car sales 
area, to the west is a takeaway and café, to the rear (south) are a number of 
industrial units, to the north are a row of bungalows.  
 
Proposal  
The application seeks to change the use of the building to form 4 apartments, 
and 2 A3 café/restaurant units.  The proposed works include the installation of 
one new window and 4 new roof lights on the front elevation, and the 
installation of 7 roof lights on the rear, and alterations to the existing windows.   
Access to the proposed A3 uses would be via the existing opening which 
would be shared.   
 
Access to the apartments would be via pedestrian walkway which leads from 
Market Street along the eastern side of the building to the rear.  A new 
galvanised footbridge with centrally positioned stair would provide direct 
access to the apartments. Two apartments would be located on the first floor 
and 2 in the roof space.  No vehicular parking would be provided by the 
development  
 
All new windows are proposed to be white Upvc, the existing roof would be 
replaced with ‘Marley Garsdale of similar approved slate ‘look-a-like’ roof tiles. 
The new shopfronts would be aluminium and it is proposed that there would 
be security shutters to the shop units finished in brown. It appears that these 
would project in front of the face of the building and would be obscured by 
new signage. The plans also show the existing chimneys to be removed. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2008/93753 - Conversion and 2 storey extension of public house to form 
offices with associated car park (within a Conservation Area) – Refused on 
design and ecology impact. 
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/detail.aspx
?id=2008%2F93753  
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
The site is unallocated on the Kirklees UDP Proposal Plan. 
 

 
 
 

10 

Page 36

http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/detail.aspx?id=2008%2F93753
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/application_search/detail.aspx?id=2008%2F93753


Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 

• BE1 – Design principles 
• BE2 – Quality of design 
• BE5 – Development within a Conservation Area 
• BE12 – Space About Dwellings  
• BE18 – Security Shutters 
• H9 – Living Over the Shop 
• D2 – Development on Land without Notation on the UDP Proposals 

Map  
• T10 – Highway Safety 
• T17 – Cycling Facilities  
• T19 – Parking Standards 
• EP4 – Sensitive Locations 
• EP6 – Development and Noise  

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

• NPPF2: Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
• NPPF6: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
• NPPF7: Requiring good design 
• NPPF8: Promoting healthy communities 
• NPPF11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
• NPPF12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
Other Policy Considerations: 

• National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
The following is a brief summary of Consultee advice (more details are 
contained in the Assessment section of the report, where appropriate): 
 

• KC Highways DM – awaiting final comments on the amended scheme 
 

• KC Environmental Services – no objections subject to conditions 
 

• KC Conservation and Design – no objections 
 

• KC Environment Unit - no objections subject to conditions 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Publicity Expired – 15/8/2014 2 representations received, a summary of the 
points raised is set out below: 

• The un-adopted access road is of a substandard construction, and 
experiences congestion, any intensification of use should not be 
supported without improvements. 

 
 
 

11 

Page 37



 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Background: 
 
A scheme for the redevelopment of the site submitted in 2008 but was refused 
on its adverse impact on the conservation area, its overall design and its 
impact on local ecology.  Two other applications were subsequently submitted 
however both of these were invalid due to ownership issues.  The current 
application represents a significantly reduced size scheme to that refused in 
2008. 
 
Principle: 
 
The site is without notation on the UDP Proposals Map and Policy D2 
(development of land without notation) of the UDP states “planning permission 
for the development … of land and buildings without specific notation on the 
proposals map, and not subject to specific policies in the plan, will be granted 
provided that the proposals do not prejudice [a specific set of considerations]”. 
All these considerations are addressed later in this assessment.  The site is 
however located within the Milnsbridge Conservation Area. 
 
The application represents the re use of an existing building, which is 
currently redundant and in a deteriorating condition, for both residential and a 
café use.   
 
The proposed café units would provide new employment space located within 
the centre of Milnsbridge, which would compensate for the space lost when 
the former A4 public house closed. The café units could also be used as A1 
retail and A2 professional service uses under permitted development if 
required by the applicant.  The principle of forming the café units is therefore 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
In relation to the residential use proposed, the Council is currently unable to 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. Relevant 
information in this respect is provided in the annual monitoring report 
published on 31 December 2013. In these circumstances, in accordance with 
NPPF paragraph 49, “relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up to date”. Consequently planning applications for housing are 
required to be determined on the basis of the guidance in NPPF paragraph 
14. This requires proposals which accord with UDP to be approved without 
delay or where the UDP is silent or out-of-date to grant planning permission 
unless the adverse impacts of doing so would ‘significantly and demonstrably’ 
outweigh the benefits in the NPPF.  The provision of 4 apartments would 
support the provision of housing within the district, and aid in meeting the 5 
year land supply of housing.   
 
The principle of providing the apartments is therefore considered to be 
acceptable, subject to an assessment of the impact of forming residential 
uses above the café units.  Policy H9 provides guidance in respect to this 
 
 
 

12 

Page 38



matter, where consideration is required in relation to parking and access 
arrangements, and the impact on the visual character and quality of the 
building.  These matters will be considered in detail later in this report.    
 
Design and Heritage:  
 
The NPPF provides guidance in respect of design in ‘core planning principles’ 
and in paragraph 56, both are set out below: 
 

• always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 

 
56.  The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to 
making places better for people. 

 
Kirklees UDP Policies D2, BE1, BE2 and H9 are also relevant, along with 
Policy BE5 due to the site’s location in the Milnsbridge Conservation Area.  All 
the policies seek to achieve good quality design that retains a sense of local 
identity, which is in keeping with the scale of development in the local area 
and is visually attractive, and preserves or enhances the character or 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  Furthermore the site is within a 
conservation area the preservation or enhancement of which must be given 
special attention in accordance with the statutory duty set down in Section 
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
The design of the proposed redevelopment of 11 Market Street is considered 
to be acceptable in principle, and is a significant improvement on the 
previously refused scheme.  The Council’s Conservation Officer has assessed 
the proposal and supports the overall design of the development, which would 
utilise the existing openings for the shop fronts on the front elevation, and use 
conservation area roof lights to make use of the roof space. The proposed 
loss of chimneys are on balance considered to be acceptable given that the 
roof space would be utilised to form two of the apartments.  To the rear of the 
site amenity space would be provided for future occupiers which his 
considered to be acceptable in design terms.  
 
The proposed use of aluminium shop windows and upvc windows for the 
apartments, given the site’s location within the Milnsbridge Conservation 
Area, would require the submission of design details to be conditioned as part 
of the recommendation.  Similarly details of the proposed security shutters 
would be required to ensure that the design and colour of the shutters, 
together with the shutter box housing was appropriate in the conservation 
area. This would normally require the shutter box housing to be set within the 
fabric of the existing building to comply with Policy BE18.   
 
To ensure that the proposed roofing material is of an appropriate design and 
appearance a sample will be conditioned to be submitted before works 
commence.  Final design details for the external render are also conditioned 
 
 
 

13 

Page 39



to ensure that the Conservation Area is preserved by the development.  To 
ensure that all new heads and cills are of natural stone, this is also 
conditioned.   
 
Subject to the conditions set out above the proposal would be of an 
acceptable design, would preserve the appearance of the conservation area 
and would accord with Policies BE1, BE2, BE5, BE18 and H9 of the UDP, and 
Policies in the NPPF.  
 
Highways: 
 
The highway impact of the development has been assessed in relation to 
Policies T10, T17 and T19 of the UDP, and the scheme has been considered 
by the Highways Officer.  
 
Concerns were previously raised by Highways in relation to the proposed use 
of a private shared access route to the rear of the site, and potential for 
conflicts between existing and proposed users of this access. The update to 
the previous committee report set out the Officers considered that the use of 
the private access should be removed from the scheme to prevent potential 
future conflict.   
 
The applicant has amended the layout of the site in accordance with these 
comments, removing the use of the rear access and parking area.  The 
amended scheme now provides no off street parking, with access to the 
apartments via a pedestrian walkway which leads from Market Street along 
the eastern side of the building to the rear.  The previously proposed car park 
now forms amenity space for the development.  
 
Whilst no off street parking would be provided by the development, Officers 
consider that the site is located within the centre of Milnsbridge, which has a 
reasonably frequent bus service, local shops, and general amenities to serve 
the future occupiers.  In addition it is considered that the local highway 
network in adjacent streets has the capacity to accommodate additional on 
street parking if required.  The amended layout is therefore considered to be 
acceptable. To encourage the use of cycling for the future occupiers of the 
apartments and in accordance with Policy T17, a condition will be attached to 
the decision notice to provide bicycle storage facilities within the site.  
 
Subject to the conditions set out above the proposal is considered to have an 
acceptable impact on highway safety and would accord with Policies T10, T10 
and T19 of the Kirklees UDP. 
 
Amenity:  
 
The impact of the proposal on amenity needs to be considered in relation to 
residential amenity of existing occupiers of land or buildings and future 
occupiers of the building including air quality and noise.  The application has 
been assessed by Environmental Services, and in relation to Policies BE12, 
D2, EP4 and EP5 of the UDP and Policies in the NPPF. 
 
 
 

14 

Page 40



 
Space About Dwellings 
In terms of space about dwellings Policy BE12 is relevant which seeks to 
protect the amenity of existing and future occupiers from issues such as 
overlooking.   
 
The closest adjacent residential properties to the application site are no.s1-9 
Bridge Croft to the north which are a row of bungalows, and which are 19 
metres away at their very closest.  Policy BE12 advises that a separation 
distance of 21 metres should be achieved between habitable room windows.  
While the separation to Bridge Croft falls slightly less than the 21 metres 
advised in BE12, the impact is on balance considered to be acceptable.   The 
relationship between the properties is existing, and there would have been a 
same relationship between Bridge Croft and the former living accommodation 
of the Public House; furthermore the relationship between the site and Bridge 
Croft is across Market Street and the affected windows are clearly in view 
from the footway along Market Street.  
 
In terms of distances to other properties in the surrounding area all of which 
are located in excess of the 21 metres advised in Policy BE12, and the impact 
on these is considered to be acceptable.  
 
In terms of noise the applicant has submitted a noise report which has been 
assessed by Environmental Services.  The noise report has considered 
sources of noise which could potentially affect the development, the highest 
sources of noise were from the road to the north, Market Street, with highest 
levels experienced from queuing traffic at rush hour.  Other sources of noise 
in the surrounding area were identified from adjacent commercial uses, 
though noise from these sources was less than that of the road.  
 
The findings of the noise report have been accepted, and the principle of 
forming the mixed use development in the building is considered to be 
acceptable, with the amenity of the future occupiers of the apartments 
sufficiently protected.  However to ensure that appropriate mitigation and 
controls are included in the development, details of extract ventilation, 
mitigation measures to protect residents from the A3 use, and an hours of use 
condition will be attached to the decision notice.  Any extract ventilation 
system provided would need to be designed to protect both residential 
amenity and the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
The mitigation measures are also considered to be sufficient to protect the 
flexible operation of surrounding commercial uses from the formation of 
residential space at the site.   
 
Air Quality  
In terms of air quality, concerns were initially raised due to the site’s close 
position to the Market Street, Yates Lane, and Morley Lane junction which can 
be busy with queuing traffic which increases potential for poor air quality.  The 
applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) at the request of 
Environmental Services, pursuant to Chapter 11 of the NPPF, which has been 
 
 
 

15 

Page 41



assessed.  The findings of the AQA raise no issues in relation to the 
development as the air quality levels are modelled in the surrounding area are 
acceptable.  It is also not considered that the flexible operation of the 
surrounding commercial uses would adversely affect by the formation of 
residential space at the application site given the acceptable levels currently 
achieved.  
 
Conclusion on Amenity  
In conclusion the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on 
local amenity, subject to appropriate conditions, and would comply with the 
requirements of Policies BE12, D2, EP4 and EP5 of the UDP and Policies in 
the NPPF. 
 
Ecology:  
 
The ecology impacts of the development have been assessed in relation to 
Policies set out in Chapter 11 of the NPPF, and a Bat Survey has been 
submitted at the request of the Council’s Ecologist.  The submitted bat survey 
advised that there are no constraints with the development and the findings of 
the survey have been accepted. Given the age of the building, and potential 
for use by bats, a condition is attached to the decision notice requiring a new 
survey if work is not commenced within 2 years.  The provision of a bat box is 
also conditioned to ensure sufficient mitigation and enhancement measures 
are included in the development.  To ensure that contractors are aware of a 
potential for bats, a note is attached to the recommendation.  
 
Subject to the conditions and notes attached to the recommendation the 
proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on local ecology and 
would meet the requirements in Chapter 11 of the NPPF. 
 
Representations: 
 
2 representations received, a summary of the points raised is set out below 
with a response: 

• The un-adopted access road is of a substandard construction, and 
experiences congestion, any intensification of use should not be 
supported without improvements. 

Response: As set out above in the ‘Highways’ section this unadopted road is 
not now proposed to provide vehicular access to the site as no parking 
spaces are being proposed/provided.  Whilst this does not preclude anyone 
with a right of access using this track this would be a private legal matter 
outside the scope of this planning application. 
 

 
 
 

16 

Page 42



Conclusion: 
 
In conclusion the proposed redevelopment of the site for 4 apartments and 2 
A3 units is considered, on balance, to be acceptable, and would bring back 
into use an existing redundant building in a sustainable location.  The 
proposal would preserve the Milnsbridge Conservation Area, and would not 
have an adverse impact on highway safety or the amenity of future occupiers 
and surrounding residents.  
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice.  
 
This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDAITON       APPROVE 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years of the 
date of this permission. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications listed in this decision notice, 
except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this permission, 
which shall in all cases take precedence. 
 
3. The use of the building hereby permitted shall not commence until the car 
park shown on the approved plans has been provided, surfaced and marked 
out in accordance with the approved plans and the car park shall thereafter be 
retained for that purpose for the occupiers of and visitors to the development. 
 
4. The development shall not be brought into use until 4 secure and sheltered 
cycle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with details that have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
approved facilities shall thereafter be retained free of obstructions and 
available for cycle parking thereafter.  
 
5. The A3 restaurant and café use hereby permitted shall not begin until 
details of the installation and/or erection of any extract ventilation system, 
including details of the methods of treatments of emissions and filters to 
remove odours and control noise emissions have been submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the works specified in 
the approved scheme have been installed. Such works shall thereafter be 
retained, operated at all times when the café/restaurant is in use and 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions. 
 
 
 

17 

Page 43



 
6. Before development commences a report specifying the measures to be 
taken to protect the residential part of the development on the first and second 
floors, from noise arising from the ground floor commercial part of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The report shall: 
 

i. Determine the existing sound reduction index of the party structures. 
ii. Determine a suitable design target to protect the amenity of the 

residential part of the development from the commercial use of the 
development. 

iii. Detail the proposed attenuation/design necessary to protect the 
amenity of the occupants of the new residences (including ventilation if 
required). 

 
The development shall not be occupied until all works specified in the 
approved report have been carried out in full and such works shall be 
thereafter retained. 
 
7. No activities shall be carried out within the ground floor units, denoted as 
Unit 1, Unit 2 and ‘store’ on drawing no.1036-208 A, including deliveries to or 
dispatches from the ground floor units and stores, outside the hours of 0730 
and 2300 on any day. 
 
8. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development, a scheme detailing 
the boundary treatment for all the site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be brought 
into use until the works comprising the approved scheme have been 
completed and thereafter retained. 
 
9. Notwithstanding the approved plans, all roof lights to be installed as part of 
this permission and as detailed on the hereby approved plans shall be of a 
Conservation Area style designed to fit flush with the roof.  
 
10. Notwithstanding the approved plans, before development commences 
detailed drawings of new windows, doors and any security shutters to be 
installed in the hereby approved development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drawings shall be of 
a scale at 1:5 for sections and 1:20 for the elevations. The details shall 
include the siting of the security shutters and box housing on the front 
elevation and the position of windows in reveal. The development shall be 
completed in accordance with the details approved and be retained thereafter.  
 
11. Notwithstanding the approved plans, all galvanised steel work to be 
installed on the hereby approved development shall have a factory applied 
black finish. 
 

 
 
 

18 

Page 44



12. Notwithstanding the approved plans one bat box, in the form of a 
Schweglar type 1FQ bat box or similar, shall be installed on the building within 
the site, during the construction phase.  The box shall be installed on the west 
facing gable at least 5 metres from the ground and not located above 
windows or doors, the box shall be installed prior to the development being 
brought into use, and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
13. All new or replacement window heads and cills shall be of natural stone. 
 
14. Notwithstanding the approved plans or submitted details, no alterations to 
the roof or external rendering of the walls shall commence until samples of 
roof tiles to be used, and details of the colour of render to be used on the 
approved development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the details so approved. 
 
NOTE – Highway Works 
The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying out of 
works within the highway, for which the written permission of the Council as 
Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the Design 
Engineer, Flint Street, Fartown, Huddersfield (Kirklees Street Care: 0800 
7318765) with regard to obtaining this permission and approval of the 
construction specification. Please also note that the construction of vehicle 
crossings within the highway is deemed to be major works for the purposes of 
the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991  
 
NOTE - Bats 
The Council’s Environment Officer has commented that a bat roost may be 
present on site. Bats are a European protected species under regulation 41 of 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. It is an offence 
for anyone intentionally to kill, injure or handle a bat, disturb a roosting bat, or 
sell or offer a bat for sale without a licence. It is also an offence to damage, 
destroy or obstruct access to any place used by bats for shelter, whether they 
are present or not. 
 
If bats are discovered on site development shall cease and the applicant is 
advised to contact Natural England for advice. 
 

 
 
 

19 

Page 45



This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 
Plan Type Plan Reference  Revision Date 

Received 
Location Plan  - - 3/7/2014 
Proposed Site 
Layout Plan  

207B Rev A - 12/8/2015 

Existing Plans and 
Elevations  

204 - 3/7/2014 

Proposed Plans 
and Elevations  

204 Rev A - 3/9/2014 

Proposed Floor 
Plans  

208 Rev A - 3/7/204 

Design and 
Access Statement  

- - 3/7/2014 

Bat Survey June 2014 - 6/8/2014 
Noise Report DRUK/ACC/RS/MSMHAD/

2395 
- 7/11/2014 

Additional Noise 
Statement  

- - 11/5/2015 

Air Quality 
Assessment 

AQ0568 - 3/2/2015 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

20 

Page 46



Application No: 2015/90507 

Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION 

Proposal: Outline application for residential development (within a 
Conservation Area) 

Location: Land off, Carr Top Lane, Golcar, Huddersfield, HD7 4JB 
 
Grid Ref: 409711.0 415589.0  

Ward: Golcar Ward 

Applicant: T Smith 

Agent: Michael Townsend, Townsend Planning Consultants 

Target Date: 26-May-2015 

Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL 
SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 
 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeaki
ngCommittee.pdf 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

11

4

9

13

27

4

1

175.9m

10
0

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E

12

7

HANDEL STREET

CHAPEL LANE

1

4

1

129

135

Cha
pe

l T
erra

ce

3

16

2

19

8

15

110

108

2

178.6m

6

106

43

28 Gu th l a c s c a r

The Old Appleyard

14

163.7m

8

CARR TOP LANE

47
 to

 4
9

20

51

39

1

1a

 

26 to 43

L o d g e

Ch y

Path (um
)

BROOK LANE69

1 to 25

ESS

Ward Bdy

160.3m

54a

71

5

15

Allotment
Gardens

Allotment Gardens

54

77

56

58

FB

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 
 
 

21 

Page 47

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 
SUBJECT TO THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 
• IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, which 

may include those at the end of the report 
• ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE. 
 

Application Details  
Type of Development Residential 
Scale of Development  0.72ha   
No. Jobs Created or Retained  n/a  
Policy  
UDP allocation Provisional Open Land (POL).  
Independent Viability Required    n/a  
Representation/Consultation  
Individual Support (No.)   nil 
Individual against 24 
Petition  n/a       
Ward Member Interest  No   
Statutory Consultee 
Objections 

 None   

Contributions  
• Affordable Housing Covered by condition 

• Education Scale of development  below threshold 
• Public Open Space Covered by condition  
• Other    n/a 
Other Issues    
Any Council Interest?   No   
Planning Pre-application 
advice? 

  Yes   

Pre-App Consultation 
Undertaken? 

 Yes   

Comment on Application 
 
 

Provisional open land (POL) in UDP and an 
undeveloped (greenfield) site. No current five year 
housing supply. The impacts of the development are not 
considered to significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits. There is local opposition however the 
principle of development is considered appropriate. 
Detailed issues capable of being addressed at reserved 
matters stage and through recommended conditions. 

 
 
 

22 

Page 48



2. INFORMATION 
 
This application is brought to the Sub-Committee as it constitutes a departure 
from the Unitary Development Plan but relates to a site where less than 60 
dwellings are proposed. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
The application site comprises an area of approx 0.72 ha, and is a roughly 
rectangular shaped site located between Carr Top Lane and Brook Lane, 
Golcar. The site is green field and slopes down considerably from Carr Top 
Lane to a wooded embankment adjacent to Brook Lane. In addition to the 
trees along Brook Lane, which are protected by Tree Preservation Order there 
are a number of mature trees spread across this and the neighbouring land. 
 
There are dwellings to the north and east of the site, and to the south on the 
opposite side of Brook Lane an apartment complex. 
 
The site is located within the Golcar Conservation Area, and is also part of a 
larger Provisional Open Land allocation on the Kirklees Unitary Development 
Plan. This allocation extends to the west of the application site. 
 
Proposal 
 
Outline permission is sought for residential with access only applied for. The 
proposed access is located off Carr Top Lane, between no. 1, Brook Lane 
and 39, Carr Top Lane.  
 
Additional details of the proposed access have been secured given the steep 
nature of the site. These show the proposed access consisting of a 5.5m wide 
carriageway with 2.0m wide footways either side. Facilities for pedestrians to 
cross the access would be provided in the form of dropped kerbs.  The 
proposed access would include a substantial retaining wall to achieve 
acceptable access gradients into the site. The plan, received 13th August 
indicates that the retaining wall supporting the access would be up to 2.23m in 
height which in turn would be 3.9m the ground level to the side/rear of 1 Brook 
Lane. 
 
An illustrative layout has been submitted, indicating 16 units, but permission 
for numbers or layout, including internal access arrangements, is not sought 
at this stage. The assessment of this application takes the access applied for 
as the point of access on the plan received 13th August and not the details of 
access on the ‘sketch layout’ scheme. 
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
None relevant  
 
 
 
 

23 

Page 49



5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan.: 
 
D5 – Provisional open land 
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE5 – Preservation/enhancement of conservation areas. 
BE6 – Infill sites 
NE9 – Retention of mature trees 
G6 – Land contamination 
H10 – Affordable housing 
H18 – Provision of open space 
T10 – highway safety 
EP11 – ecological landscaping 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Part 4 Promoting sustainable transport 
Part 6 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
Part 7 Requiring good design 
Part 8 Promoting healthy communities 
Part 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Part 11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Part 12 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Other Guidance 
 
SPD2 Affordable Housing 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
KC Highways - Additional information has been received regarding the 
access. Access is acceptable and conditions are recommended in the event 
of approval. 
 
KC Environmental Health - Recommend conditions which cover remediation 
and air quality. 
 
KC Conservation and Design - The parcel of land to which the application 
relates was included within an amended conservation area, to ensure that 
should the land be developed it should be designed in a way that it would not 
detrimentally affect the character of the conservation area. As this is an 
outline application with layout or appearance not applied for at this stage, 
there is no objection at this stage. 
 
KC Environment Unit - An ecological report has been submitted which 
establishes the site has some ecological value. There are a number of trees 
present, but do not have any bat roost potential. The retention of the trees 
along the strip of land to the southern boundary is recommended, this should 
allow for the retention of some habitat, and no objection is raised on that 
basis. 
 
 
 

24 

Page 50



 
KC Trees - There are a number of mature trees across this site, and the 
neighbouring site. These include a belt of trees along the southern boundary 
of the site along the embankment next to Brook Lane. A Tree Preservation 
Order has been served on these trees and has been confirmed.   
 
KC Strategic Drainage - Express concerns at the indicative layout and would 
object to that layout, and some of the flood risk assessment contents.  
 
If approval is to be recommended would need to impose specific conditions 
covering drainage, temporary drainage, surface water attenuation and flood 
routing. 
(NB: The layout shown is illustrative, and is not being applied for at this 
stage). 
 
Yorkshire Water - Recommend conditions in the event of an approval. 
 
KC Parks and Recreation - The site is of sufficient size for Policy H18 
(provision of public open space). In this instance an off site contribution 
towards the upgrading of any existing facilities would be acceptable. 
 
KC Strategic Housing - There is a demonstrable need for affordable housing 
in this area, and as such Policy H10 and SPD2 are relevant. As the site is a 
Greenfield site provision of 30% floor area is the policy requirement. 
A condition securing affordable housing provision is appropriate. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been publicised by site notices, press notice and 
neighbour letters expiring 17th April 2015. 
 
24 letters of objection have been received, the main points of concern being   
 
1. There are significant traffic problems associated with Carr Top Lane, and 
the surrounding narrow road network, with sharp junctions and steep slopes, 
and no pavements. Carr Top Lane is not adequate to accommodate the 
additional traffic that this development will generate. 
 
2. If there is to be any development on this site, then an alternative access 
point should be sought, and Carr Top Lane should be considered for one way 
status. 
 
3. The proposal will result in the loss of valuable green open land, the only 
such site remaining between Golcar and Wellhouse. This will have a 
devastating effect on the character of the village and the Conservation Area. 
 
4. The plans show surface water sewers crossing neighbouring land and 
boundaries have been inaccurately drawn. 
(NB: The red line around the site is accurately drawn, and the illustrative 
layout is not being applied for.) 
 
 
 

25 

Page 51



 
5.The siting of these buildings is will considered as they will damage the 
striking views of the village from Wellhouse and the Colne Valley. 
 
6. The main Golcar facilities and amenities are accessed up from Carr Top 
Lane, which is insufficient to accommodate additional traffic. 
 
7. The layout will result in a loss of privacy for neighbouring dwellings, and 
there are no details of height depth or sections provided( NB as with point 4 , 
these matters are not applied for, and would be the subject of a reserved 
matters application  in the event of an outline approval). 
 
8. The local schools are full and over subscribed 
 
9. The development will prejudice the delivery of the balance of the 
Provisional Open Land allocation. 
 
10. The Ecological survey has not been adequately carried  been undertaken 
in the wrong season and for too short a period. The development will have a 
significantly adverse effect on the habitat and wildlife on this site  
 
11. There are drainage problems on this site, and natural springs exist 
underneath it. 
 
12. The residential amenities of occupiers of the Heritage Mills apartments off 
Brook Lane  will be “overwhelmed “ by dwellings on this site, given the levels 
differences. 
 
13. Doctors and dentists are full. 
 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
General principle: 
 
The application site is allocated as Provisional Open Land ( POL),on the 
Unitary Development Plan, and as such subject to Policy D5. Policy D5 states 
that ”planning permission will not be granted other than for development 
required in connection with established uses, changes of use to alternative 
open land uses or temporary uses which would not prejudice the contribution 
of the site to the character of its surroundings and the possibility of 
development in the longer term”. 
 
The weight that can be attached to Policy D5 in determining applications for 
housing must be assessed in the context of NPPF paragraphs 215 and 49. 
 
In the context of paragraph 215, the wording of Policy D5 is consistent with 
NPPF paragraph 85 concerning safeguarded land. However with regard to 
paragraph 49 the Council is currently unable to demonstrate that it has a 5 
year supply of deliverable housing sites.  
 
 
 
 

26 

Page 52



The weight that can be given to Policy D5 in these circumstances was 
assessed in October 2013 by a planning inspector in the consideration of  an 
appeal against the permission for housing on a POL site at Ashbourne Drive, 
Cleckheaton ( Ref:APP/Z4718/A/13/2201353). The Inspector concluded 
(paragraph 42). 
 
“The lack of a five year supply, on its own, weighs in favour if the 
development. In combination with other paragraphs in the Framework 
concerning housing delivery the weight is increased. The lack of a five year 
land supply also means that policies in the UDP concerning housing land are 
out of date. Policy D5 clearly relates to housing and so, it to, is out of date and 
its weight is reduced accordingly. This significantly reduces the weight that  
can be given to the policy requirement for their to be a review of the plan 
before the land can be released. In these circumstances, the Frameworks 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is engaged” 
 
The presumption referred to by the inspector is set out in paragraph 14 which 
states that relevant policies are out of date, planning permission should be 
granted “unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the framework taken as a whole or that specific NPPF policies indicate that 
development should be restricted”. Footnote 9 lists examples of restrictive 
policies but this does not include policies concerning safeguarded land. 
 
The NPPF identifies the dimensions of sustainable development as economic, 
social and environmental roles. It states that these roles are mutually 
dependent and should not be undertaken in isolation; “economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system” (paragraph 8). The ‘economic’ role includes providing 
support for growth and development requirements, while the ‘social’ role 
states the need to support communities by providing housing to meet the 
needs of present and future generations. The ‘environmental’ role includes 
contributing to protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic 
environment’.  
 
As such, in the absence of both a five year housing supply and any significant 
and demonstrable adverse impacts that can be evidenced and substantiated 
and which outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
framework taken as a whole, the principle of developing this site is considered 
to be acceptable in this instance. 
 
There have been strong views expressed about the adverse impacts of this 
development containing within representations opposing the application. The 
following sections detail these issues and conclude that development, at this 
scale, does not give rise to significant material planning harm which can be 
substantiated as a reason for refusal. In addition, although the NPPF 
encourages the effective use of previously developed (brownfield) land, the 
aforementioned policies make it clear that no significant weight can be given 
to the loss of greenfield sites to housing when there is a national priority to 
increase housing supply. 
 
 
 

27 

Page 53



 
This site is part of a larger POL allocation, notwithstanding the principles of 
allowing these sites to be delivered at this stage, any development of part of a 
site should not prejudice the comprehensive development of the whole. 
The current application is for access only (taken as the point of access in the 
context of this application) with no siting or layout being considered. However 
the suitability of the proposed access point to serve the entirety of the POL 
allocation has been considered and is satisfactory in this respect should this 
be required in the future to serve a larger development. As such the current 
proposal would not prejudice the development of the balance of the POL in  
the longer term.   The subsequent details of layout, including internal access 
arrangements, would be considered at reserved matters stage. This would 
include whether the layout allowed for the comprehensive development of the 
wider POL site. 
 
 
Given the size of the site and potential housing numbers that could be 
accommodated policies relating to both Affordable Housing (Policy H10 and 
SPD2) and Provision of Public Open Space (Policy H18) are relevant in this 
case. 
 
Affordable Housing. As a green field site the policy requirement for affordable 
housing is 30% of gross floor area. This can be secured by Grampian 
condition, with a Section 106 agreement to discharge the requirements of the 
condition prior to development commencing. 
 
Public Open Space. Policy H18 requires the provision of 30sqm per dwelling 
or an off site contribution towards improvements of nearby facilities, on sites 
in excess of 0.4ha. Kirklees Recreation and Parks have indicated that an off 
site contribution to improvement a specific facility would be appropriate in this 
case. This can be secured by Grampian condition with a Section 106 
agreement to discharge the requirements of the condition prior to 
commencing. 
 
Highways Issues: 
 
This application seeks outline approval for residential development at land off, 
Carr Top Lane, Golcar, Huddersfield. Access, proposed from Carr Top Lane, 
is the only matter to be considered with all other matters reserved. The 
highway assessment undertaken includes the suitability of the access to  
serve the adjacent POL land to the north west of the application site. 
 
Carr Top Lane is a residential street which is approximately 180m in length 
connecting with Brook Lane and James Street to the southeast with Church 
Street via Deal Lane and Town End to the north. Town End is approximately 
250m northwest of the proposed site access, and forms part of the main route 
through Golcar village centre. 
 

 
 
 

28 

Page 54



Carr Top Lane joins Brook Lane and James Street to the south via a raised 
junction plateau, which also joins with the Station Road to the southeast. This 
raised junction reduces traffic speeds along Brook Lane and James Street to 
speeds below 30mph. Carr Top Lane takes the form of a Y junction with a 
segregated left turn ingress on its west side from Brook Lane, which is located 
opposite the Chapel Lane junction. 
 
Brook Lane and James Street form part of a local access road providing 
access between Golcar and the neighbouring settlement of Wellhouse 
eventually leading to Slaithwaite to the southwest. Carr Top Lane is a two way 
single carriageway road over its whole length, and contains a footway along 
its southwest side for the first 75m spanning the site frontage. In the vicinity of 
the proposed site access Carr Top Lane is 6m in width and the footway is 
1.8m wide. 
 
The applicant’s highways consultants “PAH consulting Engineers” have now 
provided an amended Transport statement, which is summarise as follows: 
  
Accidents 
The personal injury accident records for the last six years (between 1 January 
2009 and 26 January 2015) along Carr Top Lane and its junctions with Clay 
Well, Brook Lane, and James Street. 
There were 3 reported injury accidents within the study area over this period. 
One incident occurred during 2009, one during 2010, and one during 2011. All 
three of these incidents were recorded as serious. 
The incident during 2009 occurred at the James Street/ Brook Lane junction. 
A vehicle turned right out of Carr Top Lane across the path of an on-coming 
vehicle on James Street. 
The incident during 2010 occurred at the Brook Lane/ Chapel Lane junction 
and involved a foreign motorcyclist forgetting to ride on the left side of the 
road. 
The final incident occurred during 2011 at the Brook Lane/ Station Road 
junction and involved a vehicle travelling along Station Road past the give 
way markings into the path of an oncoming car travelling along Brook Lane. 
Only one incident relates to vehicle manoeuvres from Carr Top Lane onto 
Brook Lane/ James Street, which occurred prior to the installation of traffic 
calming measures. 
 
Public Transport 
The site is considered to be in a reasonably sustainable location being within 
approximately 400m walking distance of bus services, and local shops, and 
services within the centre of Golcar. 
The nearest bus stop is located on Station Road approximately 90m 
southeast of the proposed site access. There are also bus stops on Brook 
Lane that contain timetable information, and bus stops located on Town End, 
and Church Lane that contain a mix of passenger shelters, timetable 
information, bus stop clearway markings, and raised boarding kerbs allowing 
for easy pedestrian access. 
 

 
 
 

29 

Page 55



Traffic generation 
The anticipated traffic generation from the new development, has been 
estimated using information taken from the national TRICS database. 
The proposed development (taken as 16 dwellings as a baseline) including a 
potential 12 dwellings on the adjacent site is anticipated to generate 
approximately 18 two way trips during the morning peak and evening peak 
hours. It is estimated that the development would generate a daily trip rate of 
around 168 two way vehicle movements. 
 
AM Peak 5 vehicles in and 13 vehicles out 
PM Peak 11 vehicles in and 7 vehicles out 
 
During the busiest peak hour the development could be expected to 
experience one vehicle arriving at it every 5 and a half minutes on average, 
and one vehicle departing every 4 and half minutes, on average. 
 
Highways DM have reviewed the information and consider the impact on the 
surrounding highway network to be acceptable. 
  
Proposed access 
Speed survey have been undertaken by the applicants which demonstrate 
that the wet weather 85th percentile speeds are 22mph and 21mph 
southbound and northbound respectively along Carr Top Lane in the vicinity 
of the site. The stopping sight distance requirements within Manual for Streets 
require a distance of 28.5m to the north, and 26.5m to the south at the 
proposed access point. Therefore the proposed visibility splay provision is 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
The new access to the site would consist of a 5.5m wide carriageway with 
2.0m wide footways either side. Facilities for pedestrians to cross the access 
would be provided in the form of dropped kerbs. Visibility splays would be 
provided at the site access along Carr Top Lane in accordance with Manual 
for Streets guidance.  
 
Acceptable gradients are proposed for the proposed access road and 
longitudinal sections have been produced which show a 1 in 20 gradient at 
the junction with Carr Top Lane and a maximum gradient of 1 in 10 within the 
development. Substantial retaining walls and vehicle restraint barriers are 
required retain the proposed roadway to achieve these gradients. 
 
Conclusions 
Access geometry and visibility at the site access with Carr Top Lane accord 
with current guidance and is considered acceptable to serve a development of 
the indicative scale proposed. 
 
Given the above, Highways have no wish to resist the granting of planning 
permission subject to conditions. The development would comply with Policy 
T10 of the Unitary Development Plan. 
 

 
 
 

30 

Page 56



Impact on Amenity: 
 
Residential Amenity   
 
This application is an outline, with layout not applied for. The site is flanked by 
dwellings to the north and SE, the site slopes considerably from north to south 
ie away from dwellings on Carr Top Lane. These are within sufficiently close 
proximity to be potentially affected by the development in terms of either close 
overlooking, loss of light or privacy. However it is considered that there are no 
insurmountable reasons why a suitably designed housing layout cannot 
successfully achieve adequate separation distances and privacy/light 
safeguards, in accordance with the provisions of UDP Policies BE2 and BE12.  
 
To the south the tree belt along Brook Lane is to be retained (indeed it is the 
subject of a Tree Preservation Order). As such the Heritage Mill conversion 
on Brook Lane opposite the site will be somewhat obscured from the 
application site.   
 
It is considered that the position of the proposed access and the level of traffic 
that will be generated by this scheme, and possibly on the neighbouring POL, 
would not cause a material loss of amenity through noise or overbearing 
impact. The proposed point of access, although above the ground level of the 
adjacent property at 1 Carr Top Lane, sweeps away from the rear of the 
property on rising land and the separation between the remaining internal 
access, layout and scale is controlled by ‘reserved matters’.  
 
Visual Amenity including the character and appearance of Golcar 
Conservation Area. 
The site is within the extended Golcar Conservation Conservation Area. The 
conservation area now extends to the south west of Heritage Mills on Brook 
Lane. A Conservation Area appraisal has been prepared and this explains 
that the extension includes ‘an area of high quality open countryside which 
frames the settlement. The hillside acts as a buffer to prevent the settlements 
of Golcar and Wellhouse from merging; thus protecting the character and 
setting of both areas’. This open space is annotated separately to Provisional 
Open Land designations within the Conservation Area appraisal.   
 
It is considered in principle that development could be undertaken on the site 
of a layout, appearance, scale and with landscape proposals that would 
maintain the significance of the conservation area. Such details would be 
required to have regard to the character and appearance of the conservation 
and to draw reference to the conservation area appraisal. As has been set out 
in the consultation response from the Conservation and Design team there is 
no objection to the principle of development, and all matters other that access, 
are reserved. 
 
The proposed access from Carr Top Lane would require an engineered 
solution to provide a safe access overcoming the steep topography at the 
entrance to the site. This includes a significant retaining structure which would 
be most visible looking northwards from Brook Lane and west from Carr Top 
 
 
 

31 

Page 57



Lane. Although this structure would extend to around 2.23m in height, which 
in turn would be 3.9m above the ground level to the side/rear of 1 Brook Lane 
provided it had a natural stone external leaf it would not detrimentally affect 
the character of the conservation area. Boundary walls of predominantly 
stone/drystone construction, including retaining structures are existing 
features close to the site, for instance on the other side of Carr Top lane. 
 
The proposed retention and protection of the tree belt to the south is a 
positive factor in safeguarding the future character of the Conservation Area 
and assisting in maintaining separation between the settlements of Golcar 
and Wellhouse. 
 
The development is considered to comply with Policy BE5 of the Unitary 
Development Plan and Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Bio diversity 
 
UDP Policy EP11 requires applications for planning permission to incorporate 
landscaping which protects/enhances the ecology of the site, while NPPF 
Paragraph 118 states that Local Planning Authorities should aim to conserve 
and enhance biodiversity when determining planning applications. UDP Policy 
NE9 relates to development proposals affecting trees. 
 
An ecological report has been submitted which indicates that the site has 
some habitat value, and that it is used by a range of species of birds, 
including some are Species of Principle Importance.  The recommendations 
of this report include for the retention of the trees along the southern and 
western boundary together with an associated strip of land to the south (this is 
actually a steep embankment ). This in turn would allow for the retention of a 
substantial part of that wildlife habitat. The trees are already protected by Tree 
Preservation Order and the recommendations of the ecological report are 
accepted by the Environment Unit. 
 
The development would comply with Policy EP11 and the NPPF subject to 
appropriate details of landscape at reserved matters stage together with a 
management plan for the retained area of wildlife habitat as well as the 
inclusion of new bat and bird roost enhancement opportunities within any new 
buildings. 
 
Flood Risk/Drainage  
 
The site is located within Flood Zone 1, ie the area least likely to flood. Even 
though the site is less than 1 ha a Flood Risk assessment has been 
submitted. There is an existing foul sewer across the site that connects into 
an existing system in Brook Lane. 
 
The site is currently green field and also quite steep. As such surface water 
attenuation will be needed to ensure a green field run off rate equivalent to the 
existing field, and this will need to be conditioned. Given the steepness of the 
slope then an over reliance on soakaways is not advisable.  It is considered 
 
 
 

32 

Page 58



that the site can be satisfactorily drained up to an appropriate level based 
upon a 1 in 100 year event with allowance for climate change, without any 
adverse impact off site. 
 
The proposal is outline only, and no layout is applied for. The details of 
drainage submitted are considered to be illustrative only.  As such conditions 
are recommended which will cover the provision of both foul and surface 
water drainage, temporary drainage during construction and potential flood 
routing within a future layout, given the steepness of the slope. Subject to 
conditions the development would comply with Chapter 10 of the NPPF. 
 
 Environmental Issues ( Contamination/ Remediation; Air Quality) 
 
Contamination/Remediation- The site is not on a recorded contaminated site, 
however given the proposal is for residential a sensitive end user,  conditions 
requiring site investigation together with any necessary remediation are 
recommended to render the site fit to receive  new development.  
  
Air Quality:-NPPF Paragraph 109 states that “ the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by…… 
preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being 
put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable 
levels of…air…pollution” 
 
In order to promote green sustainable transport which would have mitigation 
measures with specific benefits to air quality officers request that the following 
condition be imposed: 

• Installation of 1 vehicle charging point per unit (dwelling with dedicated 
parking) or 1 vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated 
parking). 
 

Subject to these conditions the development would comply with Chapter 11 of 
the NPPF and Policy G6 of the UDP. 

 
Objections 

 
Responses to the objections received, insofar as they have not already been 
addressed in the assessment above: 
 

• Dentists and doctors full and over-subscribed. 
The provision of facilities such as doctors and dentists are a matter for the 
Local Health Authority and not an issue over which the Local Planning 
Authority has any control nor does it have any control over whether the 
facilities are NHS or private. This is not a material planning consideration. 
 

• Schools are full 
Kirklees Council Policy Guidance: ‘Providing for Education Needs Generated 
by New Housing’ states that "the need for the provision of additional school 
places will be a material consideration when planning applications for new 
housing developments are considered”. The threshold for consideration is 25 
 
 
 

33 

Page 59



dwellings. Although this application is outline the illustrative details provided 
indicate the development would be below the threshold for education 
contribution.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The site is allocated as Provisional Open Land in the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan. The National Planning Policy Framework places emphasis 
on the ability of Local Authorities to demonstrate a five year supply of housing. 
It is well documented that the Council cannot currently demonstrate this.  
 
NPPF paragraph 14 states that where relevant policies are out-of-date, 
planning permission should be granted “unless any adverse impacts of 
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in this framework taken as a 
whole, or that specific NPPF policies indicate development should be 
restricted”.  
 
Footnote 9 lists examples of restrictive policies but this does not include land 
allocated for housing, or greenfield land.  
 
Officers have considered whether other material considerations would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of delivering new 
housing. These are set out within the assessment above. It is considered that, 
on balance, there are no other material considerations that would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of delivering new housing and that 
balancing all these considerations the development proposed, including the 
detailed access proposals, are considered acceptable    
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: CONDITIONAL OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 
SUBJECT TO THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO OFFICERS TO: 
 
• IMPOSE ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS, which 

may include those listed below 
• ISSUE THE DECISION NOTICE. 
 
1. Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance, and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be 
obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development 
is commenced. 
 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1 
above, relating to the layout, scale, appearance, and the landscaping of the 
site, shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be 
carried out in full accordance with the approved plans. 
 

 
 
 

34 

Page 60



3. Application for approval of any reserved matter shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved matters or, in the 
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved. 
 
5. No material operation as defined in section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
public open space to serve the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The arrangements shall 
cover the following matters:- 
a) the layout and disposition of the public open space. 
b) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the works to 
provide the public open space; 
c) the mechanism for ensuring that the public open space will be available for 
public within perpetuity. 
d) maintenance of the public open space in perpetuity. 
 
6. No material operation as defined in Section 56(4)(a)-(d) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990 shall be carried out to commence the development 
pursuant to this planning permission until arrangements for the provision of 
affordable housing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the arrangements shall cover the following matters:-  
 
a) the number and type of affordable housing units to be provided. 
b) the layout and disposition of the units affordable housing to be provided. 
c) the timescale for the implementation and completion of the affordable 
housing units; 
d) the mechanism for ensuring that the affordable housing units remain 
affordable for both the initial and subsequent occupiers 
 
7. Development shall not commence until actual or potential land 
contamination at the site has been investigated and a Preliminary Risk 
Assessment (Phase I Desk Study Report) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
8. Where further intrusive investigation is recommended in the Preliminary 
Risk Assessment approved pursuant to condition 7 development shall not 
commence until a Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation Report has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
9. Where site remediation is recommended in the Phase II Intrusive Site 
Investigation Report approved pursuant to condition 8 development shall not 
commence until a Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.  The Remediation Strategy shall 
 
 
 

35 

Page 61



include a timetable for the implementation and completion of the approved 
remediation measures. 
 
10. Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to condition 9.  In the event 
that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered [in either 
the Preliminary Risk Assessment or the Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation 
Report] is identified or encountered on site, all works on site (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority 
shall be notified in writing within 2 working days.  Unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority, works shall not recommence until 
proposed revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved revised 
Remediation Strategy. 
 
11. Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority, no part of the site 
shall be brought into use until such time as the remediation measures for the 
whole site have been completed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Validation Report in respect of those remediation measures has been 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
12. No development shall commence until a scheme detailing the layout, 
construction and specification of the proposed Carr Top Lane / Site Access 
junction (with reference to drawing number 907A 01 Rev D) and all associated 
highway works, and the appropriate Road Safety Audit, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Before any building is 
occupied, the highway works shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved scheme and thereafter retained. 
 
13. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing construction 
access provision to and from the site for construction traffic (including routing 
and timing), and arrangements to be made for restricting such vehicles to 
approved points of access and egress, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall then be 
operated throughout the period of construction work. 
 
14. No development shall take place until the design and construction details 
for all temporary and permanent highway retaining structures within the site 
have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
shall include a design statement, all necessary ground investigations on which 
design assumptions are based on, method statements for both temporary and 
permanent works together with structural calculations and all associated 
safety measures for the protection of adjacent public highway and retaining 

 
 
 

36 

Page 62



wall. All highway retaining structures shall be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the approved details and shall be so retained/maintained. 
 
15. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing foul, surface 
water and land drainage, (including off site works, outfalls, balancing works, 
plans and longitudinal sections, hydraulic calculations, phasing of drainage 
provision, existing drainage to be maintained/diverted/abandoned, and 
percolation tests, where appropriate) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. None of the dwellings shall be 
occupied until such approved drainage scheme has been provided on the site 
to serve the development or each agreed phasing of the development to 
which the dwellings relate and thereafter retained throughout the lifetime of 
the development.  
 
16. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
 
17. There shall be no pumped discharge of surface water to local drainage 
networks (public or private sewers and drains or watercourses). 
 
18. Development shall not commence until a scheme restricting the rate of 
surface water discharge from the site to a maximum of 5 litres per second has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority. The 
drainage scheme shall be designed to attenuate flows generated by the 
critical 1 in 30 year storm event as a minimum requirement. Volumes in 
excess of those generated by the critical 1 in 30 storm event, up to and 
including the critical 1 in 100 year storm event, with an appropriate allowance 
for climate change, shall be stored on site in areas to be approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include a detailed 
maintenance and management regime for the storage facility including the 
flow restriction.  There shall be no piped discharge of surface water from the 
development and no part of the development shall be brought into use until 
the flow restriction and attenuation works comprising the approved scheme 
have been completed. The approved maintenance and management scheme 
shall be implemented throughout the lifetime of the development.  
 
19. Development shall not commence until an assessment of the effects of 1 
in 100 year storm events, with an additional allowance for climate change, 
blockage scenarios and exceedance events, on drainage infrastructure and 
surface water run-off pre and post development between the development 
and the surrounding area, in both directions, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No part of the 
development shall be brought into use (dwellings shall not be occupied) until 
the works comprising the approved scheme have been completed and such 
approved scheme shall be retained thereafter.   
 
20. Development shall not commence until a scheme detailing temporary 
surface water drainage for the construction phase (after soil and vegetation 
strip) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall detail: 
 
 
 

37 

Page 63



• the phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage 
provision.  

• the methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering 
existing drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of 
adjacent land is prevented. 

 
21. The temporary works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme and phasing. No phase of the development shall be 
commenced until the temporary works approved for that phase have been 
completed. The approved temporary drainage scheme shall be retained until 
the approved permanent surface water drainage system is in place and 
functioning in accordance with written notification to the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
22. Prior to occupation of the dwellings, in all residential units that have a 
dedicated parking area and/or a dedicated garage, an electric vehicle 
recharging point shall be installed. Cable and circuitry ratings shall be of 
adequate size to ensure a minimum continuous current demand of 16 Amps 
and a maximum demand of 32Amps. In residential units that have unallocated 
parking spaces then before occupation of these units at least one electric 
vehicle recharging point per ten properties with the above specification shall 
be installed. 
 
NOTE: The removal of vegetation and buildings should be undertaken outside 
of the bird breeding season, March to August inclusive. If any clearance work 
is to be carried out within this period, a nest search by a suitably qualified 
ecologist should be undertaken immediately preceding the works. If any active 
nests are present work which may cause destruction of nests or, disturbance 
to the resident birds must cease until the young have fledged. 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 
Location Plan 0159-01-A A 24/2/15 
Topographical Survey 1805/001  24/2/15 
Indicative layout 
(illustrative purposes 
only and not approved) 

  24/2/15 

Design and Access 
Statement 

  24/2/15 

Transport Statement 907  Feb 2015 
Statement of 
significance 

  24/2/15 

Arboricultural 
Implications Statement 

AIA/SW/SI  24/2/15 

Flood Risk Assessment E14/6330/FRA 001  24/2/15 
Proposed Access 907A-01 D 13/08/2015 
 

 
 
 

38 

Page 64



Application No: 2015/91523 

Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Engineering works to form public area 

Location: Woodhouse Farm, Woodhouse Lane, Holmbridge, Holmfirth, 
HD9 2QR 
 
Grid Ref: 412646.0 406459.0  

Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 

Applicant: Holmfirth Vineyard Ltd 

Agent: Mr Gary Crossfield, Bauhaus Architectural Consultants 

Target Date: 15-Jul-2015 

Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeaki
ngCommittee.pdf 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

Farm

Woodhous
Lower

Well

Wind Turbine

Woodhouse

Tr
ac

k

Holmfirth

Vineyard
The Retreat

 

n Brigg

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 
 
 

39 

Page 65

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


 
1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 
RECOMMENDATION: CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
 
The application seeks for retrospective planning permission for engineering 
works within the Green Belt described as forming a ‘public area’ by the 
applicant. 
 
The engineering operations to form the ‘public area’ are considered to not to 
represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt subject to conditions 
being imposed and enforced to ensure the openness of the green belt and the 
visual character of the area is preserved. Under these circumstances the 
application would accord with the NPPF and Policies BE1 and BE2 of the 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan. 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought before the Huddersfield Planning Sub Committee 
due to the level of representation. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site 
 
The application site is located on Woodhouse Lane, approximately 2.5km to 
the south west of Holmfirth, and forms part of the Holmfirth Vineyard, an 
agricultural/viticulture enterprise located within the Green Belt.   Access to the 
site is via Woodhouse Lane with a parking area located adjacent the 
entrance.  A winery with wine shop and tasting room is located to the east 
adjacent the car park.  A visitor centre/accommodation with 7 apartments is 
located to the west of the site.  The land around the application site is planted 
with vines.    
 
To the east of the site is Woodhouse Farm which is the residential property 
associated with the vineyard, and Lower Woodhouse Farm which is a 
separate residential property and associated farm.  
 
Proposal  
 
The application seeks planning permission for engineering works to form a 
level platform which will be used as a public area. The proposal will hereafter 
be referred to as the ‘public area’ in the report. 
 
The ‘public area’ is a 16 metre wide circular piece of land with associated 
banking which has been formed by building up land levels on the natural 
slope of the hill side.  At its greatest, land levels have increased by 1.9 
metres. The levels have been built up by using imported hard-core, with the 
western elevation and level area covered in grass/vegetation.  The public area 
has been formed by the part removal of a section of dry stone wall.  Electricity 
 
 
 

40 

Page 66



has been provided to the area along with new access paths constructed from 
hard-core.   
 
 4. RELEVANT BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
2015/93547 - Engineering works to form public area – Withdrawn  
 
2009/93461 – Extension to existing agricultural building to form wine shop and 
tasting room with formation of new access and additional parking provision. 
Erection of sedum-roofed eco lodge in existing quarry containing 7no. units, 
1no. wind turbine on a 9m mast, 2no. septic tanks and 2no. air source heat 
pumps – approved and implemented 
 
2009/90895 -Agricultural notification for prior approval of details for erection of 
building – Details Approved 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
The site is designated Green Belt on the Kirklees UDP Proposal Plan. 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 

• BE1 – Design principles 
• BE2 – Quality of design 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

• NPPF7: Requiring good design 
• NPPF9: Protecting Green Belt Land 

 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
None undertaken 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
46 representations have been received in objection and 2 in support; a 
summary of the points raised is set out below: 
 
Support 
 

• Business attracts tourism and raises money for charity through events 
 
Against 
 

• Failure to give notice of the application 
• Work carried out without planning permission 
• Land is intended to be used for the erection of permanent marquee 
• Noise and disruption from events 

 
 
 

41 

Page 67



• Noise from construction of the public area 
• The site is not agricultural in use 
• Harm to green belt and rural landscape 
• Harm to visual amenity 
• Enforcement notice requires public area to be removed 
• Visual appearance of domed marquee  
• Formation of paths to the “public area” 
• Area built without planning permission 
• Impact upon highway from visitors to the site 
• Disabled access 

 
8. ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle: 
 
Background 
 
The following provides some background context for the development which 
has taken at the site of the works, given that the application has been 
submitted retrospectively.  
 
The works to form the ‘public area’ were initially carried out in the summer of 
2014 to facilitate the siting of a marquee at the site for the ‘Tour de France - 
Grand Depart’ celebrations in July 2014.   
 
The marquee on the site has now been removed after formal enforcement 
action by the Local Planning Authority (LPA), but the raised ground level (the 
engineering operation) which is subject to this application, remains.   
 
The marquee and changes in ground levels initially formed a temporary 
development.  Such temporary developments can be permitted development 
provided the use does not exceed a period of up to 28 days in any given year.  
The applicant however exceeded this 28 day time limit, and the LPA took 
formal enforcement action to have the marquee removed, and the ground 
levels returned to their previous state.  The Enforcement Notice was dated 4 
September 2014, and it came into effect on 13 October 2014.   
 
The applicant removed the marquee from the public area, but has opted to 
apply for the retention of the public area by virtue of this application.   
 
Case Put Forward by the Applicant 
 
The applicant has put forward that the ‘public area’ provides one position 
where visitors to the site can view the vineyard in a ‘modicum of comfort’ on a 
flat area when vineyard tours are taking place, which occurs throughout the 
year.  The applicant does not consider that the proposal causes a substantial 
harm to the openness of the Green Belt given the limited size of the area, 
given that the area has been landscaped, and given that soil from within the 
site has been used in the formation of the works.  

 
 
 

42 

Page 68



 
The applicant has also argued that the work undertaken causes less than 
substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, and constitutes work that 
could have been undertaken without planning permission on an agricultural 
holding, if it had been undertaken for the purposes of agriculture (i.e. the 
planting of vines in this instance) rather than as an area for visitors. 
 
It is considered by the applicant that there is no harm to visual amenity, as the 
only views of the area, are long distance views, where the applicant considers 
the impact is diminished.  
 
The further information states the following: 

• The vineyard offers award winning wine and vineyard tours 7 days a 
week throughout the year, including in winter, which generates 25,000 
visitors per year.   

• The vineyard employee’s 14-20 staff at any one time with 4 full time 
dedicated vineyard tour guides. 

• Visitors are predominantly the older generation of 54-65+ who struggle 
with the steepness of the slopes of the vineyard. 

• The ‘public area’ forms a much needed resting/viewing area, where 
whole views of the site can be gained from, and allows tours to be 
inclusive too all who cannot normally reach the vines themselves. 

 
Green Belt Policy 
 
The application site is located within the green belt and the formation of a 
‘public area’ represents an engineering operation in the green belt.  Such 
developments need to be considered in relation to policies set out in Chapter 
9 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and in particular 
paragraph 90 which is most relevant.  Paragraph 90 states: 
   
90. Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in Green 

Belt provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land in Green Belt. These are: 
• mineral extraction; 
• engineering operations; 
• local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement 

for a Green Belt location; 
• the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent 

and substantial construction; and 
• development brought forward under a Community Right to Build 

Order. 
 
The most relevant sections of the paragraph 90 have been underlined, and as 
can be seen, engineering operations within the Green Belt are not 
inappropriate, provided they preserve the openness of the green belt, and do 
not conflict with the purposes of including the land in the green belt.   
 

 
 
 

43 

Page 69



The five purposes of including land in the green belt referred to in paragraph 
90 are set out in paragraph 80 which can be seen below.  
 
80. Green Belt serves five purposes: 

• to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
• to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
• to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
• to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
• to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict 

and other urban land. 
 
Assessment of green belt Impact 
 
To consider whether the ‘public area’ forms an exception to inappropriate 
development, as set out in paragraph 90 of the NPPF, an assessment of the 
impact of the development on the openness of the green belt, and any 
encroachment into the countryside is required.   
 
Officers consider that the ‘public area’ represents a substantial engineering 
operation with a material change in land levels at the application site.  Ground 
levels have increased by a maximum of 1.9 metres across its 16 metres 
diameter, with retaining banking formed adjacent the steepest sections to the 
west.  
 
The prominence of the ‘public area’ in the local landscape is further increased 
by its detached location from the main building or other buildings at the 
vineyard which are approximately 77 metres away.   
 
The public area is sited in a prominent location within a typical setting in the 
Holme Valley, which can be seen from a number of vantage points on the 
opposite valley side. The public area is visible from views outside of the 
vineyard, particularly from Green Gate Road and a number of residential 
areas adjacent to Woodhead Road along the valley bottom which are 
respectively 600 metres and 1600 metres from the site. Closer views of the 
public area are limited by virtue of the steep sloping valley side and 
surrounding trees.  
 
Openness 
 
By reason of the public area’s location and size the impact upon the openness 
of the green belt is largely restricted to views from distance, principally from 
the opposite valley side. The public area is visible at distance by reason of the 
change in ground levels in contrast to the slope of the valley side. Officers 
consider that the change in ground levels does create an unnatural land form 
on the otherwise typically rural valley side and consequently the formation of 
the public area does impact upon the openness of the green belt. 
 
It is considered, however, that since the public area was first formed, the 
vegetation growth on the sloping sides and grassing of some of the top 

 
 
 

44 

Page 70



surface has reduced the impact upon the openness of the green belt and has 
softened the stark appearance of this unusual landform. 
 
It is also considered that the lightly coloured crushed stone paths formed 
above and around the public area continue to significantly accentuate the 
presence of the works to form the public area. 
 
The retention of the landscaping on the public area and treatment or removal 
of the surrounding paths would assist in allowing the raised area to “blend” 
into the surrounding vines and fields. Officers consider that this would mitigate 
the visual appearance and presence of the public area sufficiently to protect 
the appearance of the wider rural setting. In such circumstances the 
openness of the green belt would be preserved and the formation of the public 
area would not be considered inappropriate development in the green belt.  
 
National Planning Policy Guidance note “Use of Planning Conditions” states 
 
“When properly used, conditions can enhance the quality of development and 
enable development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have 
been necessary to refuse planning permission, by mitigating the adverse 
effects of the development” 
 
As such it is considered the use of conditions to ensure landscaping is carried 
out, which includes soft landscape to the sloping sides of the area and works 
to mitigate the appearance of hard surfaces and paths, and maintained in the 
future would mitigate the impact upon the openness of the green belt and 
therefore enable the public area to accord with NPPF 9. 
 
Encroachment into the countryside 
      
The development is in a prominent location and the creation of the public area 
does add to the “built” form when viewed from a distance. However, as stated 
above the appearance of the public area can be mitigated by landscaping in 
order for it to “blend” into the area. As such it is not considered the resulting 
feature significantly erodes the openness of the green belt nor does it 
therefore constitute as encroachment into countryside. 
 
Design and appearance: 
 
The design of the ‘public area’ has been considered in relation to Policies BE1 
and BE2 of the UDP and Policies in Chapter 7 of the NPPF.   
 
NPPF 7 places substantial weight upon good design and identifies it as a key 
aspect of sustainable development. NPPF 7 para 60 seeks to promote or 
reinforce local distinctiveness whilst encouraging good quality innovative 
design. UDP policy BE1 seeks to create or retain local identity whilst BE2 
seeks to ensure that new development should be designed to be in keeping 
with surrounding development taking into account the topography of the site.  
 

 
 
 

45 

Page 71



As set out above in the Green Belt assessment, the ‘public area’ is considered 
to form an unnatural feature which is visible at distance. However, as stated 
above the landscaping of the feature softens the visual appearance of the 
raised land levels to the degree whereby it does not adversely impact upon 
the green belt.  
 
Whilst the raised ground levels is a unique feature within the appearance of 
the valley side the principal harm to visual appearance by virtue of design 
would be the stark appearance of an untreated “mound” of material. As 
above, where planning conditions can be used to ensure visual appearance 
and design are acceptable, the formation of the public area can be considered 
to accord with NPPF 7 and Policy BE1 & BE2.       
 
Other Matters to Consider: 
 
Highways  
The ‘public area’ would not directly impact on the highway safety in the local 
area, as it is stated it would be used ancillary to the main operation at the 
vineyard, and supports tours of the vineyard. 
 
Residential Amenity  
The ‘public area’ is not considered to be detrimental to residential amenity as 
its use would be ancillary to the main operation at the vineyard, and supports 
tours of the vineyard.  The previously erected marquee which could have 
impacted on amenity greater has been removed and does not form part of this 
application. 
 
Disabled Access  
Concern is raised that the public area is not open to disabled visitors. The 
public area is sited on a steep sloping valley side where access already 
appears difficult. Other areas within the site are available to all visitors which 
may be more appropriate to guests with mobility difficulties. Consequently 
little weight is given to this matter.  
 
Use of the public area 
It should also be noted as set out in the ‘Background’ section of this report, 
that the ‘public area’ has been used for other uses/events in the past outside 
the main use of the site as part of the vineyard operations.  However, to clarify 
the purpose of this application is solely to regularise the engineering 
operations that have taken place on the site. If planning permission was 
granted it may be possible to control the use of this area to an open viewing 
platform only. It is also possible to remove ‘permitted development rights’ for 
the temporary buildings, structures and uses on the ‘public area’ if it was 
considered that such restrictions met the 6-tests for the imposition of 
conditions.  
 
Conditions: 
 
Paragraph 206 of the NPPF states “planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they are: necessary; relevant to planning and; to the 
 
 
 

46 

Page 72



development to be permitted; enforceable; precise and reasonable in all other 
respects.” 
 
Green belt 
 
As stated above it is considered necessary to preserve the openness of the 
green belt by imposing a condition to ensure landscaping is carried out and 
maintained. Whilst the paths adjacent to the development of the public area 
do not form part of this application, they are relevant to the development as 
they provide access to and from the public area. It is considered providing 
details of how these paths are formed and maintained, as part of a wider 
landscape scheme for the public area, is reasonable in this case.  
 
Design and appearance 
 
As above. 
 
Restricting use of the public area for viewing platform only 
 
A number of concerns were received regarding the erection of a domed 
marquee on the public area. As stated above the marquee was erected 
pursuant to “permitted development rights” and subsequently was retained 
beyond the permitted time allowance. Enforcement action was pursued on 
this basis which led to the removal of the marquee. The enforcement notice 
continues to have effect on the land and remains in force. Should the 
marquee structure be re-instated beyond the time limit controlled under 
permitted development rights, the enforcement notice would continue to be 
enforceable.  
 
However, this does not preclude implementation of the temporary allowance 
of 28 days in any one calendar year granted under permitted development 
rights. It is possible to remove permitted development rights for this temporary 
period by conditions, although such a condition would need to be reasonable 
in all respects.  
 
In removing the right to exercise permitted development rights, the local 
planning authority must have reason to object the principle of development 
carried out under permitted development rights.  
 
National Planning Policy Guidance states :”Conditions restricting the future 
use of permitted development rights or changes of use will rarely pass the test 
of necessity and should only be used in exceptional circumstances.”  
 
As stated above the site is in a prominent Green Belt and can be viewed from 
a number of vantage points. The presence of a large temporary structure, for 
instance the previously erected domed marquee structure, is capable of 
significantly harming the visual appearance and openness of the Green Belt 
resulting in an encroachment of development into the countryside even if only 
erected for short periods of time. The resulting visual harm and erosion of the 
openness of the Green Belt if such permitted development rights were 
 
 
 

47 

Page 73



exercised is therefore considered to be exceptional circumstances by which to 
remove permitted development rights are justified. Under these circumstances 
future control of the use of the ‘public area’ for temporary buildings and uses 
set out within Part 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015  is considered necessary. Such control 
may be provided by imposing a condition.        
 
Representations: 
 
A summary of the other points raised is set out below, with a response to 
each one in turn: 
 

• Failure to give notice of the application 
 
The application was publicised in accordance with the Council’s notification 
procedures. 
 

• Work carried out without planning permission 
 
Whilst the application is retrospective, this is not a material consideration and 
cannot be used as a reason for refusing to determine the application. 
 

• Land is intended to be used for the erection of permanent marquee 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 

• Noise and disruption from events 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 

• Noise from construction of the public area 
 
Noise from construction works would not fall to be considered where the 
development is complete 
 

• The site is not agricultural in use 
 
Officers have no reason to believe that the activities at the site are currently 
unlawful 
 

• Harm to green belt and rural landscape 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 

• Harm to visual amenity 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 

 
 
 

48 

Page 74



• Enforcement notice requires public area to be removed 
 

The application seeks to remedy the requirement to remove the works as 
stipulated in the enforcement notice 

 
• Visual appearance of domed marquee  
 

The application seeks permission for the raised ground levels only 
 
• Formation of paths to the “public area” 

 
This is addressed in the report 
 

• Impact upon highway from visitors to the site 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 

• Disabled access 
 
This is addressed in the report 
 
2 representations were received in support of the application. 
 

• Business attracts tourism and raises money for charity through events 
 
The nature of the business would not fall to be considered in this application 
 
Conclusion:  
 
The engineering operations to form the ‘public area’ are considered to not to 
represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt subject to conditions 
being imposed and enforced to ensure the openness of the green belt and the 
visual character of the area is preserved. Under these circumstances the 
application would accord with the NPPF and Policies BE1 and BE2 of the 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION       
 
Approval subject to conditions 
 
Proposed conditions: 
 
1. Unless a landscaping scheme is submitted to the local planning authority 
within 1 month of the date of permission hereby approved the engineering 
works shall be removed. The landscaping scheme shall including details of 
landscaping for the public area hereby approved and finished treatment of the 
existing paths to and adjoining the public area as shown hatched on the site 
block plan. Within 1 month of the local planning authority giving written 
approval the landscaping scheme shall be fully completed and thereafter 
maintained and retained in accordance with the approved details.    
 
 
 

49 

Page 75



 
2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 4 Classes A and B of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) the public area outlined in red on the location plan shall not be 
used for any temporary material change of use and no building shall be 
erected upon it. 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 
Plan Type Plan Reference  Revision Date Received 
Location Plan  3276/03 - 20/05/2015 
Site Block Plan – 
Engineering Operation   

3276/02 - 20/05/2015 

Site Block Plan – 
Enforcement Notice 
Hatched Area 

3276/01 - 20/05/2015 

Site Sections PD3276/03 ‘A’ - 20/05/2015 
Planning Statement November 2014 - 20/05/2015 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

50 

Page 76



Application No: 2015/91434 

Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION 

Proposal: Erection of detached garage and extension to existing 
dwelling 

Location: 16, Bayfield Close, Hade Edge, Holmfirth, HD9 2QX 
 
Grid Ref: 414631.0 405606.0 

Ward: Holme Valley South Ward 

Applicant: D Frank 

Agent:  

Target Date: 08-Jul-2015 

Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION 
 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at 
planning committees, including how to pre-register your intention to 
speak. 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeaki
ngCommittee.pdf 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

Flow

Field

Greengag

50

57

54

25

6a

8

33

31

6

BA
YF

IE
LD

 C
LO

SE

29

27

34

47

39

16

30

4428
48

18

307

Pump

26

313

31

Play  Area

Bandroom

   

© Kirklees Council 100019241 2008 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
 
 
 
 

51 

Page 77

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/business/planning/advicenotes/PublicSpeakingCommittee.pdf


1. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION  
 
This application seeks permission for the erection of a detached garage and 
extension to the existing dwelling. 
 
The principle of the development is considered acceptable. 
 
Officers recommend approval of the scheme. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL 
 
2. INFORMATION 
 
The application is brought to the Planning Sub-Committee at the request of 
Councillor Donald Firth. The reason for the request reads: 
 
“Need more parking space rather than less. If this gets the go ahead it will 
cause problems.” 
 
The Chair of the Sub Committee has confirmed that Councillor Firth’s reason 
for making this request is valid having regard to the Councillors’ Protocol for 
Planning Sub Committees. 
 
3. PROPOSAL/SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Site Description 
 
16 Bayfield Close is a relatively modern detached property located within a 
larger housing estate in Hade Edge.  
 
The property is two storeys in height with a single storey garage and utility 
room attached. It is constructed from stone with a concrete tiled roof with 
uPVC windows and doors. The property is set up from the roadside with a 
single width driveway leading to the integral garage.  
 
There is a small garden to the front of the property with a larger garden to the 
rear.  
 
The application site also encompasses and area of land to the south of the 
dwelling. This is beyond the residential curtilage of the site and separated 
from it by a boundary fence. This area is presently used for car parking. 
 
Proposal 
 
Permission is sought for the erection of a detached garage and an extension 
to the existing dwelling. It is also proposed to extend the width of the existing 
driveway to the front of the property however this element of the scheme does 
not require Planning Permission.  
 

 
 
 

52 

Page 78



Extension to dwelling 
 
The proposed extension would be to the first floor of the property, being 
located sited above the existing garage and lying flush with its existing front, 
side and rear elevations. The eaves and ridge height would be raised and 
would be a continuation of the existing eaves and ridge of the existing 
dwelling. The integral garage would be converted into a study with the utility 
room retained at ground floor and at first floor a bedroom with en-suite would 
be created. The proposed construction materials would be coursed natural 
stone for the walls, grey/brown concrete tiles for the roof with uPVC for the 
windows. 
 
Detached garage 
 
The proposed garage would be located to the south of the property within an 
area which is currently a dedicated parking area.  
 
The proposed garage would be set in from the western boundary by 0.2 
metres and set in from the southern boundary by 1.2 metres with the garage 
being a width of 3.4 metres and a depth of 5.4 metres. The eaves height 
would be 2.3 metres rising to 3.3 metres at the ridge of the pitched roof. 
 
The proposed materials of construction would be coursed natural stone for the 
walls and concrete tiles for the roof.  
 
4. BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
 
1989/03194 Outline application for residential development 
  Refused  
 
1990/05080 Outline application for residential development 
  Conditional Outline Permission  
 
1991/05929 Erection of residential development 
  Approval of Reserved Matters  
 
2014/93776 Erection of first floor extension, conversion of garage and 

erection of detached garage 
 Withdrawn/Invalid 
 
2015/90265 Erection of two storey side extension and detached garage 
 Invalid 
 
5. PLANNING POLICY 
 
Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
 
The application site is allocated for housing in the Unitary Development Plan. 
As this allocation has been built out it is now considered as ‘unallocated land’ 
for the purpose of this application. 
 
 
 

53 

Page 79



 
D2 – Unallocated Land  
BE1 – Design principles 
BE2 – Quality of design 
BE13 – Extensions to dwellings (design principles) 
BE14 – Extensions to dwellings (scale) 
T10 – Highway safety  
T19 – car parking 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Part 7 Requiring good design 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received; where 
appropriate these are expanded upon in the assessment section of this report: 
 
K.C. Highways Development Management – no objection subject to 
condition 
 
Holme Valley Parish Council – object to the application on the grounds of 
over-intensification of the site 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
9 letters of objection have been received. The main planning points raised are 
summarised as follows: 
 

• When properties were purchased told by Conroy and Booth sales team 
said that the parking spaces were for residents/visitors 

• Garage will be built onto the road and public footpath making it unsafe 
for school children 

• Garage would reduce visibility when operating a vehicle, parking 
spaces are open at the moment with good visibility all round and no 
restricted access or egress 

• Would also reduce the number of parking spaces available  
• Having studied land registry plan it is noted that two parking spaces are 

not within the red boundary of the property  
• Parking on the estate is at a premium and reducing the available 

parking will have a detrimental effect on the estate and the Parish 
Council have acknowledged over intensification of the area 

• Parking bays are not for the sole use of No. 16 
• Residents have rights to use these bays and no solid structure should 

be built on the spaces 
• Area directly in front of garage will have an impact in the roads turning 

circle which is used on a regular basis for motor vehicles 
• No objection to house extension as long as it does not have an impact 

on the residents parking area 

 
 
 

54 

Page 80



• Objection to uprooting hedge to create extended driveway as it 
provides privacy; offers protection for several insects and birds; adds a 
rural feel to the estate which is of paramount importance to the 
community as it is in keeping with the area 

• Widening driveway would offer limited access for the neighbouring 
occupiers to access side path which leads to back yard 

• Garage will result in serious road safety implications 
• Applicant does not park car in existing garage 
• Building will be intrusive and result in overlooking 
• Parking space is designated on the deeds as a shared parking area 

and therefore no one should be able to build any structure on this area 
of land 

• Based on the deeds stating that the area is a shared parking space, 
should not be allowed to apply for Planning Permission 

• Applicant does not own the land where he is wanting to build garage 
 

ASSESSMENT 
 
General Principle / Policy: 
 
The application site is allocated for housing development in the UDP. As this 
allocation has been built out it is now considered as ‘without notation’ on the 
UDP Proposals Map where Policy D2 (development of land without notation) 
applies. This states “planning permission for the development … of land and 
buildings without specific notation on the proposals map, and not subject to 
specific policies in the plan, will be granted provided that the proposals do not 
prejudice [a specific set of considerations]”. All these considerations are 
addressed later in this assessment.  
 
The general principle of extending and making alterations to a property 
including the construction of garages are assessed against Policies BE1, 
BE2, BE13, BE14 and T10 of the Unitary Development Plan and advice within 
Chapter 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework regarding design. These 
require, in general, balanced considerations of visual and residential amenity, 
highway safety and other relevant material considerations. As the application 
would also affect an area of land currently used for car parking it is also 
considered that Policy T19 is relevant. 
 
Impact on Amenity: 
 
Policy BE1 of the Unitary Development Plan states that new development 
should be of goof quality design that is both visually attractive in its own right 
and which creates or retains a sense of local identity. Policy BE2 states that 
the design of new development should ensure that it is in keeping with 
surrounding development in respect of design, materials, scale, density, 
layout, building height and mass. Policy BE13 states that extensions to 
dwellings should respect the design features of the existing and adjacent 
buildings and Policy BE14 states that extensions will normally be permitted 
provided that they, amongst other things, do not have a detrimental effect on 

 
 
 

55 

Page 81



visual amenity. This includes the proposed development not creating an 
undesirable terracing effect.   
 
The proposed house extension would be located on the north side elevation 
of the property. It is considered that this would be in keeping with the host 
building in terms of design, fenestration details and materials of construction. 
In terms of a terracing effect, although the dwelling is defined as being ‘closely 
spaced’ in terms of its relationship with the neighbouring property at no.14 
Bayfield Close, it is considered that the proposed development would not 
create a terracing effect as there would be a clear separation between the 
side elevation walls with a similar relationship to other properties within the 
immediate area. A number of similar extensions have been previously granted 
on the estate with some of these retaining garaging and some removing 
garages. 
 
With regards to residential amenity it is proposed that the garage door would 
be replaced by a window within the front elevation and a bathroom window 
proposed at first floor and to the rear elevation a first floor bedroom window. 
As the extension would lie flush with the ground floor elevations, established 
separation distances would not be reduced so maintaining an acceptable level 
of privacy. There are no proposed openings within the side elevation with no 
openings within the side elevation of the adjacent neighbour. The application 
site is set on a slightly higher ground level than the neighbouring property 
however it is not considered that the proposal would cause significant harm to 
residential amenity in terms of overbearing. 
 
In terms of the proposed detached garage, this would be sited to the south of 
the dwelling and outside of the defined domestic curtilage of the property 
within part of an area which is currently occupied by 3 no. parking bays. 
Although this is outside the domestic curtilage of the property it is within the 
ownership of the applicant. The proposed garage would be constructed from 
natural coursed stone with a tiled roof which would match the host and 
surrounding development. It is considered that in principle the siting, scale 
and appearance of the garage would not be detrimental to residential or visual 
amenity.  
 
Highway Safety: 
 
Policy T10 of the UDP states that new development will not normally be 
permitted if it will create or materially add to highway safety problems. Policy 
T19 sets out the maximum number of car parking spaces required for new 
developments. These policies were not in force when planning permission 
was granted for the estate. 
 
The proposed development would result in the loss of the integral garage that 
serves the application property. The submitted plans indicate that this would 
be replaced by the creation of a new parking space (4.8m x 2.4m) within the 
existing front garden of the property. This could be formed utilising ‘permitted 
development rights’ provided it complied with the conditions set out in the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
 
 
 

56 

Page 82



Order 2015. This would then provide 2 parking spaces for the 4-bedroomed 
property created by the extension. Policy T19 of the UDP states that houses 
of less than 140 sq m in area should provide a maximum of 2 parking spaces. 
As such the development would provide sufficient parking to accord with the 
UDP without taking into account the proposed new detached garage. 
 
A number of representations have been received and the impact on parking 
provision and highway safety, through the construction of the garage, is the 
principal issue of concern. 
 
The estate of which this application site forms part was granted under 
application no 1991/05929. The approved site layout for this development, 
Drawing number 2467/7/G, indicated that the area to the south of the 16 
Bayfield Close was intended for casual parking. The existing layout of the 
area is that 3 spaces are provided. The proposed garage would result in the 
loss of 2 parking spaces and, due to its limited internal depth of 4.8 metres, it 
is unlikely it could itself be used for vehicle parking. An internal depth of 6m is 
normally required for new garages. The submitted plans also appear to 
indicate that the garage would have an ‘up and over’ door which would open 
on to the public highway. This would not be in the interests of highway safety 
but could be rectified by condition requiring a roller shutter door instead. 
 
In terms of the parking arrangements that currently exist on this land the 
provision of casual/visitor parking is beneficial to the wider estate. It provides 
additional parking for the use of residents. However, in terms of this 
application the ownership of the land and the ‘permitted development’ rights 
which exist must also be afforded some weight. The land in question is in the 
ownership of the applicant. The fallback position is that the applicant could 
erect a means of enclosure around this land [in accordance with the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015] as 
permitted development that would effectively prevent the use of this land for 
casual parking – the same impact as the erection of the garage. The garage 
would not encroach onto the adopted section of Bayfield Close – subject to 
the control of the type of door – and therefore, the structure would be sited on 
private land entirely within the ownership of the applicant.  
 
It is therefore considered that whilst there would be loss of parking provision 
within the estate, which is of a disbenefit to the wider estate, given the above, 
it would be difficult to substantiate a reason for refusal based on the loss of 
casual parking spaces in principle. There may be other private/civil law issues 
that would affect the landowners ability to prevent casual parking or erect a 
garage/boundary treatment but these are not material to the consideration of 
the planning application. 
 
Having assessed the principle of development the impact of the erection of 
the garage on highway safety has also been considered. A single casual 
parking space would remain south of the application site together with the 
parking spaces for no. 18 Bayfield Close. The garage would restrict visibility 
when using the remaining casual space but given the low numbers of vehicles 
and traffic speeds the impact is not considered severe. Highways 
 
 
 

57 

Page 83



Development Management have been formally consulted as part of the 
application process and have concluded that whilst concerns were raised in 
terms of the loss of existing communal parking spaces given the issues 
addressed above in relation to land ownership, it is considered that there are 
no objections to the proposal based upon highway safety or parking 
standards. 
 
To conclude it is considered that two off-street parking spaces would be 
available to serve the extended dwelling within the original curtilage of the 
existing dwelling even if the proposed garage could not provide an additional 
parking space. The finely balanced consideration of the fallback position 
against the loss of the casual parking spaces has been assessed and it is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable with regards to highway safety and 
parking provision. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
9 letters of representation have been received with the following comments 
and Local Planning Authority response: 
 

• When property was purchased told by Conroy and Booth sales team 
that the parking spaces were for residents/visitors 

Response: Noted 
 

• Garage will be built onto the road and public footpath making it unsafe 
for school children 

Response: The garage is proposed to be constructed on land which is under 
the ownership of the applicant. A condition shall be attached to the decision 
notice ensuring that the door is of a roller shutter type door so as not to 
project onto the public highway.  
 

• Garage would reduce visibility when operating a vehicle, parking 
spaces are open at the moment with good visibility all round and no 
restricted access or egress 

Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report 
 

• Would also reduce the number of parking spaces available  
Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report 
 

• Having studied land registry plan it is noted that two parking spaces are 
not within the red boundary of the property  

Response: The layout of the parking area on the Land Registry plan is not a 
matter for consideration. The applicant owns a section of this area which is a 
measurement of land and not the number of parking spaces. 
 

 
 
 

58 

Page 84



• Parking on the estate is at a premium and reducing the available 
parking will have a detrimental effect on the estate and the Parish 
Council have acknowledged over intensification of the area 

Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report 
 

• Parking bays are not for the sole use of No. 16 
Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report 

 
• Residents have rights to use these bays and no solid structure should 

be built on the spaces 
Response: Should the residents have documentation with their deeds that 
they have the legal right to use the land under the ownership of the applicant, 
this is a civil matter and not a material planning consideration. 
 

• Area directly in front of garage will have an impact in the roads turning 
circle which is used on a regular basis for motor vehicles 

Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report and a condition shall be attached to the decision notice ensuring 
that the door is of a roller shutter type door so as not to project onto the public 
highway.  
 

• No objection to house extension as long as it does not have an impact 
on the residents parking area 

Response: Noted 
 

• Objection to uprooting hedge to create extended driveway as it 
provides privacy; offers protection for several insects and birds; adds a 
rural feel to the estate which is of paramount importance to the 
community as it is in keeping with the area 

Response: The submitted plans do not indicate that the hedge would be 
removed however Planning Permission would not be required to carry out the 
removal. 
 

• Widening driveway would offer limited access for the neighbouring 
occupiers to access side path which leads to back yard 

Response: Private rights of access are not a matter that the Local Planning 
Authority can assess. 
 

• Garage will result in serious road safety implications 
Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report.  
 

• Applicant does not park car in existing garage 
Response: This is not a material planning consideration.  
 

 
 
 

59 

Page 85



• Building will be intrusive and result in overlooking 
Response: This has been considered as part of the Impact on Amenity 
section of this report.  
 

• Parking space is designated on the deeds as a shared parking area 
and therefore no one should be able to build any structure on this area 
of land 

Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report.  
 

• Based on the deeds stating that the area is a shared parking space, 
should not be allowed to apply for Planning Permission 

Response: This has been considered as part of the Highway Safety section of 
this report and the deeds clearly denote that the applicant owns the area of 
land subject to this application  
 

• Applicant does not own the land where he is wanting to build garage 
Response: Land Registry documentation clearly shows that the land is under 
the ownership of the applicant.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
On balance it is considered that the proposal satisfies relevant planning 
policies and there will be no unduly adverse impact in terms of residential or 
visual amenity. It is further concluded that the loss of the casual parking 
spaces as a result of the garage proposal is acceptable taking into account, 
amongst other things, the rights of the landowner (under planning legislation) 
to erect a means of enclosure around land.  
 
The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice.  
 
This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval. 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
CONDITIONAL FULL APPROVAL  
 
1. The development shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date on which permission is granted.  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications listed in this decision notice, 
except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this permission, 
which shall in all cases take precedence. 

 
 
 

60 

Page 86



 
3. The external walls and roofing materials of the extension and garage 
hereby approved shall in all respects match those used in the construction of 
the existing building. 
 
4. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the garage door 
hereby approved shall be first installed as a ‘roller shutter’ type that, when 
opening and fully open, does not project over the adjoining footway or 
adjoining highway. Thereafter notwithstanding the provisions of Section 55 the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the garage door shall be retained as a 
‘roller shutter’ type that, when opening and fully open, does not project over 
the adjoining footway or adjoining highway. 
 
5. Prior to the development being brought into use, the new vehicular parking 
area to the front of the dwelling shall be surfaced and drained in accordance 
with the Communities and Local Government; and Environment Agency’s 
‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of front gardens (parking areas)’ 
published 13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864) as amended or 
superseded; and thereafter retained.  
 
NOTE: Link to Communities and Local Government; and Environment 
Agency’s ‘Guidance on the permeable surfacing of front gardens’ published 
13th May 2009 (ISBN 9781409804864): 
www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens 
 
NOTE: The granting of planning permission does not authorise the carrying 
out of works within the highway, for which the written permission of the 
Council as Highway Authority is required. You are required to consult the 
Design Engineer (Kirklees Street Scene: 01484 414700) with regard to 
obtaining this permission and approval of the construction specification. 
Please also note that the construction of vehicle crossings within the highway 
is deemed to be major works for the purposes of the New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 (Section 84 and 85). Interference with the highway without 
such permission is an offence which could lead to prosecution 
 
This recommendation is based on the following plan(s):- 
 
Plan Type Reference Version Date Received 
Existing elevations and 
floor plans 

Dwg No 1 of 3  13th May 2015 

Proposed elevations, 
floor plans and sections 

Dwg No 2 of 3  13th May 2015 

Location plan, proposed 
site plan, proposed 
garage elevations and 
floor plans 

Dwg No 3 of 3  13th May 2015 

 
 
 

 
 
 

61 

Page 87

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/pavingfrontgardens


This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Update 1 3 September 2015 

  KIRKLEES METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SERVICE 
 

UPDATE OF LIST OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DECIDED BY 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
 

3 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 2015/91523 PAGE 39 
 
ENGINEERING WORKS TO FORM PUBLIC AREA 
 
WOODHOUSE FARM, WOODHOUSE LANE, HOLMBRIDGE, HOLMFIRTH, 
HD9 2QR 
 
Statement from Cllr Nigel Patrick who has asked that this be read out at the 
meeting as he is unable to attend. 
 
‘I was happy to support the 2009 application for a wine shop and tasting room 
at this site.  The success of the vineyard as a venue since then has led to 
expansion at the site.  The success of this company is to be welcomed.  
Unfortunately the expansion created problems for neighbouring properties 
and I began to receive complaints about noise nuisance and highways related 
issues such as parking and obstruction of the road. There was a suggestion 
that the existing permission had been exceeded and this was dealt with by 
officers.  However, the complaints continued and the neighbours felt that their 
issues had not been addressed.   
 
The engineering works to create the so called viewing platform or public area 
and new access roads was done in readiness for the Tour de France.  This is 
a substantial structure.  This can be seen from right across the valley and is a 
significant structure in the landscape setting.  Complaints were made during 
its construction.  I began to get complaints from people living on the other side 
of the valley.  A marquee was placed upon the platform and used as a venue 
for events during and after Le Tour.  I understand it remained there for some 
time afterwards and complaints from residents led to enforcement action for 
its removal.  This is a retrospective application.  
 
The platform is described in the application as a ‘public area’.  It is my 
understanding that this is to be used by customers visiting the vineyard or 
events at the site, and is not public in the sense of public open space. It is part 
of the business.  Concerned neighbours believe the structure is a site for 
events and expect the marquee to return should it be approved. An electricity 
supply has been laid to the platform which can be used for lighting etc. These 
events can attract hundreds of people and that’s when parking and noise 
nuisance becomes a real problem.  I note that Highways have not assessed 
the structure against its use, in other words they have not assessed the 
impact of hundreds of people visiting the site in cars and finding somewhere 
to park.  There is insufficient parking on site and the public road to the farm is 

Page 89



Committee Update 2 3 September 2015 

steep and narrow with an acute right angled bend.   It is not suitable for big 
events of this nature.  
 
This is a successful business but that is not reason enough to enable 
expansion without considering the impact on neighbouring properties.  We 
know the site already creates problems for neighbours. If committee is mindful 
to approve the application with conditions to protect the amenity of 
neighbouring properties it must be certain that those conditions will be 
adhered to and can be enforced.  If not then committee should refuse the 
application.  Officers suggest a condition to landscape the structure so it 
blends in better with the landscape, and more importantly a condition to 
remove permitted development rights to prevent events taking place on the 
structure including temporary buildings.  Officers believe this can be justified.  
 
I think the application is inappropriate in the green belt.  It does affect the 
landscape from near views and far views. It is or was unnecessary to create a 
public area on this scale.  I don’t believe it would have been recommended for 
approval had it not been built.   If events continue to be held on the structure 
this will impact on the local roads and this has not been addressed. No 
additional off road parking is to be provided to cater for the additional traffic, 
and that is traffic additional to the previously approved use of the site. Events 
attracting hundreds of people will create noise nuisance and that has not been 
addressed either.   I would refuse the application that is before committee on 
these grounds.’   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90


	Agenda
	2: Minutes of previous meeting
	Blank Page

	3: Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	10: Local Planning Authority Appeals
	Rep088.pdf
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Main Issues

	2. The site is situated within the Green Belt, and therefore the main issues are:
	 Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development for the purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and Development Plan Policy.
	 The effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, and on the character and appearance of the area.
	 If found to be inappropriate development, whether the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify the development.
	Reasons

	Inappropriate Development
	3. The appeal site is an area of steeply sloping land, which is situated between numbers 48 and 52 Greenhill Bank Road.  The road links New Mill with the village of Totties.  The site is bounded on two sides by existing dwellings and their gardens, wi...
	4. The site is situated in the Green Belt, where new built development is strictly controlled.  In that regard, the Council refers to Policy D13 of the Revised Kirklees Unitary Development Plan (UDP), which permits infill development within existing s...
	5. In my opinion, the above policy generally accords with paragraph 89 of the Framework, which states that the construction of new buildings should be regarded as inappropriate within the Green Belt, with the exception of (amongst other things) limite...
	6. The development proposed is for the erection of one dwelling.  All matters, apart from the means of access, are reserved for further approval. I note that the Council has no objection to the proposed access and, whilst some concerns have been raise...
	7. The Council contends that the site does not lie within a settlement or a village and therefore, it conflicts with Policy D13 of the UDP, and with the provisions of the Framework.  Consequently, the Council concludes that the proposal is inappropria...
	8. In response to my request for clarification on settlement boundaries, the Council states that for the purposes of the UDP, settlement boundaries are considered to be the Green Belt boundary around them and locations that are washed over by Green Be...
	9. Whilst I have considered the argument put forward by the Council, I am not persuaded (based on the evidence provided) that the Green Belt boundary and a settlement boundary can be regarded as the same thing.  Even if that were the case, a settlemen...
	10.  The terms ‘settlements’ or ‘villages’ are not defined in the UDP or in the Framework and therefore whether or not land or buildings are within a settlement is a subjective decision.  Whilst the appellants point to the close physical relationship ...
	11.  For the above reasons, I therefore find that the proposed dwelling would amount to inappropriate development within the Green Belt.  Paragraph 87 of the Framework states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt ...
	Openness and Character and Appearance
	12.  The appeal site is an area of land that is generally free from any built development.  It is relatively wide and makes a positive contribution to the rural character and appearance of the area.  Whilst no details of the proposed dwelling have bee...
	13. The proposal would also have an urbanising impact on the site and would unacceptably consolidate built development in the area as a result of the significant reduction in the gap between the existing buildings.  I consider that this would be harmf...
	Very Special Circumstances
	14. The appellants’ case is founded mainly on their assertions that the site is located within a settlement, and that the proposal would not have an adverse effect on the openness or the character and appearance of the area.  I have already dealt with...
	15.  My attention has also been drawn to the shortage of housing land within the Council’s area.  However, I have not been provided with any substantive evidence on housing land supply to enable me to assess this matter further.  I accept that the dev...
	Other Matters
	16.  Concern has been expressed by a neighbouring resident regarding the effect of the proposal on his privacy.  Whilst no details of the type or position of the proposed dwelling have been submitted to enable me to make a definitive assessment, I con...
	17. The appellants have drawn my attention to other decisions by the Council and at appeal, where matters relating to the Green Belt; settlement boundaries; and the interpretation of Policy D13 of the UDP have been raised.  These include an earlier Co...
	Conclusion
	18.  For the reasons given above, it is concluded that the appeal be dismissed.
	Ian McHugh
	INSPECTOR
	3F56F8C6308811E5B4ED00A0C6000017.pdf
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Procedural Matters

	2. The appeal was submitted in outline.  The planning application form indicates that the matter of access is to be considered with appearance, layout, scale and landscaping reserved for later consideration.  I will deal with the appeal on this basis.
	Main Issues

	3. The main issues are whether the development would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt having regard to local and national policy and, if it does, whether any harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by...
	Reasons

	Whether the development would be inappropriate development
	4. The appeal site is located within the Green Belt.  It comprises a sloping grassed area of land, which rises steeply to the south west.  It lies to the side of Lyngham, a modern detached dwelling.  That dwelling is positioned to the north east of th...
	5. The appellant states that the appeal site is located within the settlement of Cliff within a continuous developed frontage.  He contends that it is surrounded by development.  On that basis Saved Policy D13 of the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan0...
	6. The appeal site is associated with the dwelling known as Lyngham.  The Green Belt boundary follows the wall between the appeal site and No 78c Cliff Road and runs along the road frontage of the appeal site.  This means that the appeal site and the ...
	7. Paragraph 89 of the Framework states that, with certain exceptions, the erection of new buildings in the Green Belt is inappropriate.  One of the specified exceptions relates to the limited infilling in villages.
	8. The appellant indicates that the appeal site is falls within the original Cliff settlement.  Cliff is located on the hillside on the edge of the settlement of Holmfirth.  The Council considers that Cliff is a suburb of Holmfirth and is not a villag...
	9. Consequently, I do not consider that the proposed development is consistent with paragraph 89 of the Framework.  Therefore, I conclude the proposed development would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  This would harm the Green Belt.
	Any other Green Belt harm
	10. I acknowledge that the proposed development would be built into a sloping site and would not interrupt views across/down the valley.  However, I consider that the proposed development would have an effect on the openness of the Green Belt, i.e. la...
	11. I note the appellant refers to residential development of 188 houses which he states is planned for the land opposite the appeal site and he considers such development would create more harm to openness than the appeal scheme.  This land is define...
	Other considerations
	12. The appellant accepts that the appeal site is in the Green Belt but has referred to “discrepancies in the drawing up of the Green Belt in 1980” and he has alluded to other sites that are located further from key buildings in the locality when comp...
	13. The appellant refers to other development proposals in the Cliff locality including No 2 Cliff Road (2014/60/93621/W).  However, I am not aware of the full background of this scheme.  From the information provided this scheme is undetermined.  It ...
	14. The appellant states that the Highway Authority has not objected to the means of access with regard to the proposed scheme. I acknowledge that there is adequate visibility and entering and exiting in the forward gear would be possible.  I also not...
	15. I note the references that the dwelling would be constructed in complementary materials, typical of the locality, and it would not be dominant or overbearing. However, the appeal is in outline and the matters referred to above will be determined a...
	16. I also note that the appellant states that it would provide employment for local builder/tradesmen.  However, although the construction of the dwelling would bring economic benefits in terms of investment in the local economy as well as employment...
	17. The appellant maintains that the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing and refers to a newspaper article2F  and the SHLAA.  There is no dispute amongst the parties that the Council cannot demonstrate a sufficient sup...
	18. Concerns have been raised by interested parties.  The occupier of No 78c has referred to the detrimental effect of the proposed development on his living conditions due to proximity, outlook, privacy and overshadowing.  I note the neighbour’s conc...
	Conclusions

	19. According to Government advice, given in the Framework, very special circumstances to justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt will not exist unless the potential harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outwe...
	20. The proposal would amount to inappropriate development and it would encroach on the openness of the Green Belt, one of its essential characteristics.  The Framework makes it clear that any harm to the openness of the Green Belt should be given sub...
	Mrs A Fairclough
	INSPECTOR



	11: Planning Applications
	Application No: 2014/92101
	Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION
	Proposal: Change of use from public house to 4 no. apartments, alteration to roof, 2 no. A3 units and new parking facilities to rear (within a Conservation Area)
	Location: Post Office Hotel, 11, Market Street, Milnsbridge, Huddersfield, HD3 4ND
	Ward: Golcar Ward
	Applicant: Qamar Akhtar
	Agent: Manjinder Chattha
	Target Date: 11-May-2015
	Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION
	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	Application No: 2015/90507
	Type of application: 60m - OUTLINE APPLICATION
	Proposal: Outline application for residential development (within a Conservation Area)
	Location: Land off, Carr Top Lane, Golcar, Huddersfield, HD7 4JB
	Ward: Golcar Ward
	Applicant: T Smith
	Agent: Michael Townsend, Townsend Planning Consultants
	Target Date: 26-May-2015
	Recommendation: OASD - CONDITIONAL OUTLINE APPROVAL SUBJECT TO DELEGATION TO OFFICERS
	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	Application No: 2015/91523
	Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION
	Proposal: Engineering works to form public area
	Location: Woodhouse Farm, Woodhouse Lane, Holmbridge, Holmfirth, HD9 2QR
	Ward: Holme Valley South Ward
	Applicant: Holmfirth Vineyard Ltd
	Agent: Mr Gary Crossfield, Bauhaus Architectural Consultants
	Target Date: 15-Jul-2015
	Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION
	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	Application No: 2015/91434
	Type of application: 62 - FULL APPLICATION
	Proposal: Erection of detached garage and extension to existing dwelling
	Location: 16, Bayfield Close, Hade Edge, Holmfirth, HD9 2QX
	Ward: Holme Valley South Ward
	Applicant: D Frank
	Agent:
	Target Date: 08-Jul-2015
	Recommendation: FC - CONDITIONAL FULL PERMISSION
	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

	Committee Update - 3 September 2015


